

### LUND UNIVERSITY

Gone With the Wind

#### The Structure and Function of the Dung Beetle Wind Compass

Shaverdian, Shahrzad

2025

Link to publication

*Citation for published version (APA):* Shaverdian, S. (2025). *Gone With the Wind: The Structure and Function of the Dung Beetle Wind Compass.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Biology]. Lund University.

Total number of authors:

#### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

### Gone With the Wind

The Structure and Function of the Dung Beetle Wind Compass

SHAHRZAD SHAVERDIAN DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY | FACULTY OF SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Gone With the Wind: The Structure and Function of the Dung Beetle Wind Compass

### Gone With the Wind:

### The Structure and Function of the Dung Beetle Wind Compass

Shahrzad Shaverdian



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Science at Lund University to be publicly defended on 23 of May at 13.00 in the Blue Hall, Ecology Building, Department of Biology, Sölvegatan 37, Lund, Sweden

> Faculty opponent Professor Rachel Wilson Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Harvard Medical School Boston, United States of America

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name:

Author(s): Shahrzad Shaverdian

### Title and subtitle: Gone With the Wind: The Structure and Function of the Dung Beetle Wind Compass

Date of issue

Sponsoring organization:

Abstract: Prevailing winds carry seafarers across oceans and guide insects on their journeys. The South African, ball-rolling dung beetle Kheper lamarcki depends on a range of compass cues, including the azimuthal position of the sun and the directed airflow of wind to steer its plotted course. In this thesis, I set out to further our understanding for how these insects benefit from the directional component of the wind, and how this information is combined with the directional information from their solar compass. In Paper I, I verify that the antennae are the sensors that support wind-guided straight-line orientation in the beetles. I further demonstrate that even though a single antenna can support wind-guided straightline orientation, the wind compass benefits from the pair. In **Paper II** proceed to characterise the detailed morphology of the wind sensor itself - the antennal Johnston's organ. I find that the beetle's Johnston's organ shares the characteristic morphology found among other wind-orientating insects. In Paper III, me and my colleagues turn our attention to how dung beetles integrate the directional information given by multiple cues and found that the integration strategy at play is a weighted vector summation, in which the relative influence of each cue on the combined directional signal is given by its relative weight. In **Paper IV**, we expand on this study and propose that the parameter that determines the weight given to each cue is likely its contrast. Taken together, the work presented in this thesis highlights how the dynamic and adaptable insect compass system can guide the animal on its journey, despite the challenges it may face.

Key words: Wind-guided straight-line orientation, Antennae, Johnston's organ, Cue integrationClassification system and/or index terms (if any)Supplementary bibliographical information

Language: Eng

Number of pages:76

ISSN and key title:

**ISBN:** 978-91-8104-517-8 (print), 978-91-8104-518-5 (electronic)

Recipient's notes

Price

Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2025-04-10

### Gone With the Wind:

### The Structure and Function of the Dung Beetle Wind Compass

Shahrzad Shaverdian



Cover photo by Lana Khaldy Copyright pp 1-76 Shahrzad Shaverdian

Paper 1 © By the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 2 © By the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 3 © Cell Press Paper 4 © The Royal Society

Faculty of Science Department of Biology

ISBN 978-91-8104-517-8 (print), 978-91-8104-518-5 (electronic)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

They turn to sun, to sky so wide, to daylight's arc as faithful guide. With every step, they track the light, a compass cast in plainest sight. But when the sunlight slips away, or clouds drift in to blur the rays, they do not falter, stall, or stray, the **wind** will rise and show the way.

### Table of Contents

Scientific Papers	. 10
Author Contributions	.11
Popular summary	. 12
Populärsammanfattning	. 14
1 The starting point of my thesis	.16
1.2 The South African, ball-rolling dung beetle	.17
2 Compass cues	. 18
2.1 Wind	. 18
2.2 The boundary layer and fluid flow around cylinders	. 19
2.3 Wind is a versatile medium that can facilitate a wide range of behaviours	. 22
2.4 The wind conditions in the beetle's natural habitat support wind-guided orientation	.23
2.5 The reliability of wind as an orientation cue increases with increased speed	.24
2.6 Sun	.26
3 The structure and function of the antennae	.30
3.1 The antennae carry the primary sensors for wind-guided orientation in the dung beetle <i>K. lamarcki</i>	.31
3.2 Beetles with one antenna display a reduction in wind sensitivity	. 32
3.3 Beetles adjust their orientation strategy based on wind speed and antennal condition	. 34
3.4 Antennal ablations do not impair the beetles' ability to perform accura straight-line orientation when guided by a visual	ate
directional cue	. 36
3.5 The dung beetle antennae contain a Johnston's organ that shares its morphology with other wind-orienting insects	. 37

4 The neuronal basis of steering
4.1 The insects' internal compass is located in the centre of its brain44
4.2 Towards a definition of the wind compass pathway of the beetle
К. Іатагскі
4.3 The pathway from the antennae to the central complex
4.4 Weighted cue integration for straight-line orientation51
4.5 Dung beetles integrate sun and wind cues continuously and in a weighted manner
4.6 Orientation behaviour is variable when cue reliabilities intersect
4.7 The weight given to a cue is determined by its relative reliability 54
4.8 The behavioural data is best replicated by a vector summation model with non-optimal weights and small, individual biases
4.9 The role of the antennae on the relative weight given to the directional information provided by wind
4.10 Are two cues better than one?
4.11 Weight-by-reliability or weight-by-contrast?
5 The end point of my thesis
Acknowledgements
References

### Scientific Papers

- I. **Shaverdian, S.**, and Dacke, M., One antenna can support wind-guided straight-line orientation in the dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki*. (*Manuscript*).
- II. **Shaverdian, S.**, Rasmussen, C., and Dacke, M., Ultrastructure of the dung beetle Johnston's organ. (*Manuscript in revision*).
- III. Shaverdian, S., Dirlik, E., Mitchell, R., Tocco, C., Webb, B., Dacke, M. (2022). Weighted cue integration for straight-line orientation. iScience 25, 105207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.105207
- IV. Mitchell, R., Shaverdian, S., Dacke, M., Webb, B. (2023). A model of cue integration as vector summation in the insect brain. Proc. R. Soc. B. 290, 20230767. http://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2023.0767

### Author Contributions

- I. S.S. and M.D. designed experiments. S.S. conducted the experiments. S.S. and M.D. analysed the data. S.S. drafted the manuscript. S.S. and M.D. revised the manuscript.
- II. S.S. and C.R. prepared samples for electron microscopy and collected morphological data. S.S. analysed the data. S.S. drafted the manuscript.
  S.S. C.R. and M.D. revised the manuscript.
- III. S.S., E.D. and C.T. collected and transported beetles. S.S., E.D. and M.D. designed behavioural experiments. S.S. and E.D. conducted behavioural experiments, S.S. and E.D. analysed behavioural data. R.M. did all of the modelling. S.S., E.D. and R.M drafted the manuscript. S.S., E.D. R.M, C.T., B.W. and M.D. revised the manuscript. First-authorship is shared between S.S. E.D. and R.M.
- IV. S.S. and M.D. designed behavioural experiments. S.S. conducted behavioural experiments. S.S. and M.D. analysed behavioural data. R.M. did all of the modelling. S.S. drafted the parts of the manuscript pertaining to behaviour. R.M, S.S. M.D. and B.W. revised the manuscript.

### Popular summary

As the scorching sun radiates down on the South African savannah, the air is irregularly heated. This results in pressure gradients that drive the movement of air from areas of high pressure to areas of low pressure. This is what you and I, or a tiny insect, experience as wind. As the wind flows forward across the savannah, it can capture the scent of a fresh dung pile, may eventually cross paths with the foraging, ball-rolling dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki* and guide the beetle to its feast. However, when the beetle arrives at the dung pile, it does so in the company of hundreds of other individuals. To enjoy its meal, the beetle breaks off a piece of dung, sculpts it into a ball and, after fending off a few opportunists, commences its journey to safety - backwards, with its head near the ground and with the ball between its hind legs. The beetle escapes along a remarkably straight path away from the dung pile, effectively maximising the distance between itself and the chaos at the pile with each backwards step that it takes. To maintain their straight-line orientation, beetles, much like many other orientating insects, integrate directional information into their internal compass, or head direction network. The Stimuli that support this compass include sun, the pattern of polarised light formed around the sun, the light intensity gradient across the sky, or prevailing wind. In this thesis, I dive into the structure and function of a *wind compass*, using K. lamarcki as my model organism.

The story begins in **Paper I**, where I characterise the role of the antennae for windguided straight-line orientation. In this study, I uncover that the dung beetle antennae carry the main, or likely even sole, mechanosensors for wind orientation. I also find that the loss of one antenna impairs wind sensitivity, but that this only poses a severe issue at low wind speeds; at speeds similar to those experienced on the savannah, beetles with one antenna can still orientate to the wind. Furthermore, I observe no effect on orientation behaviour depending on which antenna (left/right) that is lost. This indicates that both sensors convey similar directional information in regard to the wind, and that the wind-induced signals in each antenna is summed. After establishing that the antennae enable wind orientation, I then, in **Paper II**, turn my attention to the morphology of the putative wind sensor - the antennal Johnston's organ. This intricate stretch receptor detects passive strain, such as that imposed by wind, in the joint between the second and third antennal segments. I find that the individual building-blocks of K. lamarcki's Johnston's organ display the same characteristic structures as those identified in other wind orientating species.

On the savannah, the dung beetles have a plethora of directional cues at their disposal. Therefore, the subsequent chapters of the story delve into the integration of directional information given by wind together with a visual cue – the sun. In *Paper III*, I, together with my colleagues, explore the integration strategy at play which, until our work, was believed to be a "winner-take-all", in which the beetle

gauges the usefulness of all available directional cues and solely relies on the cue perceived to be most useful for orientation. However, combining behavioural work with modelling, we demonstrate that the beetles *continuously integrate the directional information given by a simulated wind and sun according to a "weighted vector summation" strategy*. The relative influence of the wind and sun on the combined directional cue is given by their relative weights. Precisely what parameter(s) of a directional cue is considered when weight is afforded is explored in *Paper IV*, where the dung beetle is exposed to different paradigms of multisensory directional input. These experiments reveal that a combination of directional information from multiple sources does not always generate the most robust behavioural output. We then attempted to replicate my behavioural results using the head direction circuit from *Paper IV*, by simulating two weighting strategies: *i*) "weight-by-reliability" and *ii*) "weight-by-contrast". As it turns out, the latter weighting strategy best reflected my behavioural data, indicating that *dung beetles do not weigh cues by reliability, but rather by contrast*.

Taken together, the work presented in my thesis demonstrates the dynamic nature of the wind compass, and how it can enable the directed movements of insects, despite the increasing challenges they might face on their diverse journeys across the world.

### Populärsammanfattning

När solen strålar ner på den sydafrikanska savannen värms luften upp över sanddynorna, vilket i sin tur bildar tryckgradienter. Dessa gradienter sätter luftmolekylerna i rörelse och driver dem från områden med högtryck till lågtryck – detta är vad du, jag eller en insekt, uppfattar som vind. Medan vinden blåser framåt över sanden kan den bära med sig doften av en dynghög och guida dyngbaggen Kheper lamarcki till sin nästa måltid. Hit anländer den ofta i sällskap med hundratals andra hungriga individer. Dessa dyngbaggar formar då en bit dynga till en boll, avvärjer några opportunister som försöker stjäla dyngbollen den nyss skapat, och rullar sedan i väg sin runda måltid – baklänges, med huvudet intill marken och dyngbollen mellan bakbenen. Det mest effektiva sättet att fly konkurrensen vid dynghögen med sin mat i behåll är att hålla en rak kurs bort från dynghögen – vilket är precis det den bollrullande dyngbaggen gör. På så vis maximerar den avståndet mellan sig själv och kaoset vid högen med varje steg den tar. För att bibehålla denna kurs integrerar dyngbaggen olika typer av riktningsinformation i sin interna kompass. Denna information kan vara i relation till solen, mönster av himmelsljus eller riktningen vinden blåser från. I den här avhandlingen tar jag hjälp av dyngbaggen K. lamarcki för att utforska morfologin och funktionen hos en vindkompass.

Berättelsen börjar i *Artikel I*, där jag karaktäriserar antennernas roll för vindstyrd orientering. I den här studien visar jag att det är dyngbaggens *antenner* som känner av vinden och möjliggör vindorientering. Jag fann även att dyngbaggar med endast en antenn fortfarande kan vindorientera, fast nu med lägre känslighet. Detta indikerar att *båda antenner förmedlar liknande riktningsinformation från vinden, samt att de vindinducerade signalerna i varje antenn summeras*. Efter att ha etablerat att det är antennerna som möjliggör vindorientering tittade jag, i *Artikel II*, närmre på morfologin hos stretchreceptorn *Johnstons organ*. Denna receptor är förankrad i leden mellan det andra och tredje antennsegmentet och reagerar på passiva rörelser i denna led. Sådana rörelser kan orsakas av vindflöde. I min studie fann jag att byggstenarna som utgör *K. lamarckis* Johnstons organ uppvisar liknande morfologier som de som identifierats hos andra vindorienterande insektsarter. Detta antyder att det är Johnstons organ som möjliggör vindorientering även hos dyngbaggen.

Ute på den sydafrikanska savannen har dyngbaggen en uppsjö av kompass-signaler till sitt förfogande. I Artikel III utforskar jag, tillsammans med mina kollegor, vilken integrationsstrategi dyngbaggen använder för att kombinera riktningsinformation från vinden och solen. Innan vår studie gjordes ansågs strategin vara en så kallad *"winner-take-all"*, vilket innebär att baggen estimerar pålitligheten av alla tillgängliga kompass-signaler och förlitar sig enbart på den som upplevs vara mest pålitlig för orientering i den stunden. Med hjälp av beteendeförsök och modellering visar vi att dyngbaggen *kontinuerligt integrerar den riktningsinformation som ges*  *av en simulerad vind och sol* enligt en strategi som kallas *weighted vector summation*, där vindens och solens relativa inverkan på den kombinerade kompasssignalen ges av deras relativa vikter. I *Artikel IV* bygger vi vidare på denna modell genom att definiera vilka egenskaper hos kompass-signaler som sätter dessa vikter. Med hjälp av beteendestudier och simuleringar av insektskompassens neurala nätverk finner vi att *dyngbaggar väger riktningsinformation utifrån kompass-signalens relativa kontrast*.

Sammantaget belyser arbetet i min avhandling vindkompassens dynamiska egenskaper. Min beskrivning av de bakomliggande mekanismerna för hur dyngbaggens hjärna kontinuerligt anpassar hur mycket vinden eller solen ska kontrollera i vilken riktning den färdas har tagit oss ännu ett steg på vägen till att förstå hur insekterna färdas runt vår jord. Detta är viktig kunskap att ha med sig då utmaningarna för dessa resor blir allt fler.



### 1 The starting point of my thesis

Most animals depend on directed movement for survival; from the long-distance migrations of elephants, birds, and monarch butterflies, to the shorter-range orientation of ants, bees, and beetles. To accomplish these navigational feats, animals make use of an intricate *compass system* or *heading indicator* (Section 2), that integrates directional information from various sources to guide steering. These sources of information can be internal (*idiothetic*) cues, derived from the animal's proprioceptors as it moves through space. However, internal cues inevitably accumulate errors (i.e. the perceived body position does not reflect reality). In fact, when directional information is limited to internal cues, blindfolded humans tasked with walking a straight trajectory soon deviate from their initial path and begin to circle (Cheung et al., 2007; Souman et al., 2009). Similarly, the compass system of insects, such as dung beetles, naturally accumulates errors in the absence of external visual cues and as a result, the insect also begins to circle when released in full darkness (Khaldy et al., 2019). Thus, to successfully steer along a desired course beyond a few body lengths of distance, the compass system requires further guidance from external (allothetic) cues (Cheung et al., 2007; Souman et al., 2009). These external cues are sampled through a range of sensory systems.

In the extensive field of insect navigation, much research has been devoted to unravelling the use of visual compass cues for guidance. Such visual cues include the sun, moon, and stars, as well as spectral- and intensity gradients, and the pattern of polarised light that spans across the sky (Dacke et al., 2021, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011; el Jundi et al., 2014). However, what happens when these visual cues fail to provide reliable directional information? What other sensory systems work as a back-up to continuously feed the animal's compass systems with the information required to sustain orientation? During conditions where celestial compass cues fail, insects can – given the right conditions – for example steer according to prevailing winds (Bell and Kramer, 1979; Dacke et al., 2019; Heinzel and Böhm, 1989; Müller and Wehner, 2007; Okubo et al., 2020). This is where my work enters the picture. In this thesis, I use the South African, ball-rolling dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki* as my model organism to provide further insights on wind-guided straight-line orientation. I evaluate the role of the highly mechanosensitive antennae for windguided orientation (Paper I), and then proceed to characterise the morphology of the wind sensor (Paper II). Furthermore, as my model species possesses a dynamic compass system that employs a range of directional cues, I investigate the

integration of a visual compass cue with wind (*Papers III* and *IV*). Taken together, the work presented in this thesis highlights the versatility of a compass system and its capacity to utilise wind, a continuously moving cue, to guide an animal on its journey.

### 1.2 The South African, ball-rolling dung beetle

Dung beetles, the world's hardworking groundskeepers, are spread across all continents except for Antarctica. The vast majority of the 7000 species (Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae) feed on the nutrient rich dung left behind by other animals and can be divided into three categories based on their method of consumption: dwellers (endocoprids), tunnellers (paracoprids), and ball-rollers (telocoprids) (Hanski and Cambefort, 1991). Dwellers and tunnellers remain in close proximity to the dung pile and feed directly atop it (dwellers) or from tunnels underneath it (tunnellers). In contrast, the ball-rollers prefer to enjoy their meal at some distance from the dung source. Upon arrival at a fresh dung pile, the beetles are confronted by fierce interand intraspecific competition for food (Hanski and Cambefort, 1991). To avoid this, the ball-rolling beetles swiftly break off a piece of dung and sculpt it into a ball, which they then proceed to roll away – backwards and along a straight path (Byrne et al., 2003). To guide their straight-line orientation, the beetle employs a range of compass cues (Section 2). By maintaining a relative bearing to these cues, the beetle manages to steer along a straight course. This robust and relatively simple orientation strategy provides the beetle with an escape route wherein each step maximises the distance from its starting point. As a result, this ensures that the beetle does not return to the intense competition at the dung pile. After rolling for approximately 6 minutes (Dacke et al., 2019), the beetle digs down in soft soil to consume its dung ball in peace. A few days later, the beetle has finished its meal and emerges from the ground – hungry and ready to repeat its straight-line escape.

### 2 Compass cues

As the field of spatial orientation research grows, the explicit definition of a 'compass' has become a matter of debate. Some argue that orientation behaviour can only be considered 'compass orientation' if the animal can discern absolute compass directions (Grob et al., 2021a; Guilford and Taylor, 2014), while directed behaviour without this type of global frame of reference should rather be referred to as 'non-compass orientation', or 'straight-line orientation'. In the latter case, the animal makes use of a 'heading indicator' to monitor its body orientation relative to the directional cue. If this relationship is maintained as the animal moves, it will steer straight (Grob et al., 2021a; Guilford and Taylor, 2014). This is what we observe in my model animals, the ball-rolling dung beetles (Baird et al., 2010; Byrne et al., 2003). A problem arises if the directional cue is a celestial body, e.g. the sun, that changes its apparent position over the course of a day; a true compass system will compensate for this apparent movement, but a heading-indicator will not, ultimately leading the animal along a curved path. The dung beetles, however, orient for such a short period of time that their straight-line escapes from the dung pile do not suffer from the apparent movement of the sun (Dacke et al., 2019). In scientific reports, the terms 'compass' and 'heading indicator' are often used interchangeably (Freas and Spetch, 2022). In this thesis, I define a compass cue as a cue that an animal can utilise to steer in any direction relative to it (menotaxis). The neuronal network that supports the extraction of directional information from the cue is referred to as a compass, e.g. a sun compass or a wind compass, while the term 'heading indicator' refers to the whole network behind steering, without timecompensation or other means to maintain an absolute compass direction. The details of the neuronal circuitry underlying the insect compass are described in Section 4.

#### 2.1 Wind

As sunlight radiates down upon the earth's surface, air is heated at varying intensities; greater at the equator, and dissipating towards the poles (Maceachern and Yildiz, 2018). Where temperatures rise, the density of air molecules decreases. Thus, the uneven heating of Earth by the sun generates relative differences in atmospheric air pressure across space. These pressure gradients drive the movement of air particles from areas of high pressure to areas of low pressure (Kalmikov, 2017;

Mathew, 2007), producing what is experienced by us, or a small insect, as *wind*. Wind can be described by its *velocity*, which is a vector value that defines the speed of airflow (magnitude) and its direction. The *speed* with which the air particles travel is determined by the pressure difference between two points in space – a greater difference produces greater wind speeds. The *direction* of wind is given by the orientation of the pressure gradient.

Wind can either be *laminar* (vectors move in parallel and with constant speed) or *turbulent* (vectors are subject to irregular fluctuations), depending on the dynamic properties of the wind, as well as the environment it is moving through. To predict the behaviour of a fluid – such as air – in a determined environment, the *Revnolds number* is used; this number describes the relative effects of inertial and viscous forces on fluid flow. In experiments conducted by Reynolds (1883), a streak of dye was introduced to a pipe with flowing liquid and the tendency to depart from a uniform stream was used as a visual representation of laminar and turbulent flow. Reynolds (1883) found that the transition from laminar to turbulent could be attained by either (1) increasing flow speed, (2) increasing pipe diameter, (3) decreasing the viscosity of the fluid, or (4) increasing the density of the fluid. As a result, he proposed the relationship described in Equation (1), where U is flow velocity, L is characteristic length, and v is the fluid viscosity. A low Reynolds number indicates that viscous forces dominate, resulting in more laminar fluid flow, while a high value suggests greater turbulence (Purcell, 1977; Reynolds, 1883; Smits et al., 2011; Vogel, 1994).

$$Re = \frac{UL}{v} \tag{1}$$

#### 2.2 The boundary layer and fluid flow around cylinders

Initially explored by (Prandtl, 1904), the *boundary layer* and the flow within it can be illustrated by imagining wind travelling over a horizontal, smooth, and solid surface (see Figure 1, from Kreith (1999). Due to friction, the air moving directly against the surface will adhere to it. This results in zero velocity at the surface that is referred to as the *no-slip condition* (Loudon, 2003; Vogel, 1994). At a certain distance from the surface, air will move freely and with a constant velocity, referred to as the *free stream* (Vogel, 1994). The no-slip condition and the free stream form the extremes, and in between is the boundary layer, where air velocity increases with increasing distance from the surface (Mathew, 2007). The velocity vectors of airflow begin as laminar (laminar boundary layer, see Figure 1). However, as the air travels forward (increasing L in Equation (1)), the boundary layer thickness increases, resulting in greater inter-particle interactions which cause disturbed flow. This leads to a transition from a laminar to a turbulent boundary layer.



**Figure 1: Boundary layer formation as wind travels over a flat surface.** Vectors denote wind direction and speed (U). Depending on the local Reynolds number, at a certain distance from the leading edge, the boundary layer will depart from laminar and enter a transition into turbulent. *From Kreith (1999).* 

The transition from a laminar to turbulent boundary layer may occur earlier if obstructions are introduced to the wind flow. The velocity of wind (speed and direction) can undergo rapid fluctuations when subjected to additional frictional forces by e.g. rough ground, vegetation, balls of dung, or other obstacles (Bitsuamlak et al., 2004; Mathew, 2007). These disruptions in airflow reduce the wind speed, resulting in an exponential increase in speed with vertical distance from the textured ground, similar to what was explained above (Geiger et al., 1995). The shapes and sizes of the obstructions also affect the direction that the wind takes by encouraging the formation of vortices (Maceachern and Yildiz, 2018; Vogel, 1994). Vogel (1994) describes the effect of Reynolds number on the formation of vortices as a fluid moves past a cylinder, illustrating that with growing Reynolds number, the propensity for vortices increases; beginning as attached vortices that remain near the cylinder. As the Reynolds number increases further, these attached vortices are shed and travel downstream of the cylinder, initially in a structured and repetitive manner (von Kármán vortex trail) and eventually in a turbulent wake (see Figure 2). Loudon (2003) places this into the context of insect antennae and presents the relationship between Revnolds number, wind speed, cylinder diameter (as a proxy for antenna diameter) and vortex behaviour at a defined wind viscosity (see Figure 3). At Reynolds numbers below 10 (low air speed and large cylinder diameter, or high air speed and small cylinder diameter) the flow is laminar and devoid of vortices. However, as the number increases, the flow goes through a period of attached vortices (10 < Reynolds number < 40), followed by vortex shedding (Reynolds number > 40). The biological implications of attached vortices and the von Kármán vortex shedding could be an added level of noise in the form of unwanted oscillations of the wind sensitive structures.



### Figure 2: Flow behind a cylinder, illustrating the formation of vortices at different Reynolds numbers.

At low Reynolds numbers, the flow begins as relatively laminar (A). As the number increases, attached vortices form (B) which are shed with increasing Reynolds number into a structured von Kármán trail (C), and later in a turbulent wake (D). *From Vogel (1994)*.



Figure 3: Relationship between air speed (m/s), cylinder diameter, Reynolds number and vortex formation behind the cylinder.

At low Reynolds numbers (Re < 10) the flow is relatively laminar. At intermediate Reynolds numbers (10 < Re < 40) there is a formation of attached vortices. At higher Reynolds numbers (Re > 40) these vortices are shed. *From Loudon (2003)*.

## 2.3 Wind is a versatile medium that can facilitate a wide range of behaviours

Despite the complex fluid dynamics of wind, several animals take advantage of prevailing winds to guide their behaviours. In the realm of insects, wind provides a vital medium through which olfactory cues can be transmitted and received for communication, mate-seeking, and foraging (Cardé and Willis, 2008; Collett and Cardé, 2014; Kaissling and Kramer, 1990; Kramer, 1976; van Breugel et al., 2022). Changes in wind flow in the immediate surroundings have been observed to trigger escape responses in crickets (Gnatzy and Heußlein, 1986), caterpillars (Tautz, 1977) and cockroaches (Camhi and Tom, 1978), and several insect species steer by the guidance of the wind flow. These include desert ants (Müller and Wehner, 2007; Wehner and Duelli, 1971), fruit flies (Budick et al., 2008), walking beetles (Heinzel and Böhm, 1984; Linsenmair, 1972) and the South African, ball-rolling dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki* – which utilises the wind *anemonenotactically* (Dacke et al., 2019; *Papers I, III, and IV*).

# 2.4 The wind conditions in the beetle's natural habitat support wind-guided orientation

On the South African savannah, the natural habitat of K. lamarcki, celestial cues are accessible and useful for guidance throughout most of the day. However, around midday when the sun nears its highest elevations, the directional information given by available celestial cues becomes less useful for orientation (Müller and Wehner, 2007). This event overlaps in part with the peak diel activity hours of this beetle species (Dacke et al., 2019; Tocco et al., 2021). However, despite their now relatively unreliable sun compass, the beetles still maintain their straight trajectories away from the pandemonium at the dung pat. Coincidentally, it is also around this time of day when prevailing wind currents reach their highest speeds (Dacke et al., 2019) (see Figure 4A). Additionally, measurements of angular variation of wind in the dung beetle's habitat show that there is little change in wind direction during a 6-minute-long escape from the dung pat (median angular change =  $27^{\circ}$ , see Figure 4B, (Dacke et al., 2019)). Taken together, as beetles only steer along their escape bearings for these relatively short periods of time, these conditions favour wind as an alternative cue for guiding straight-line orientation around noon. Indeed, behavioural experiments reveal that as the elevation of the sun increases, directional information from wind is afforded greater relative weight by the beetle's compass (Dacke et al., 2019; *Paper III*). As directional information can be passed between the wind and sun compasses of the beetles (Dacke et al., 2019), this supports a dynamic orientation system that is able to sustain robust steering away from the dung pile for the entire day.





Average wind speeds measured in the natural habitat of *K. lamarcki* (blue axis) and the relative activity of the beetles over a day (red axis). (B) The normalised frequency of wind directional changes over a 6-minute period. Median angular change  $\pm$  IQR = 27°  $\pm$  48.5°. *From Dacke et al. (2019).* 

# 2.5 The reliability of wind as an orientation cue increases with increased speed

To study the characteristics of the dung beetle wind compass in more detail, my colleagues and I designed a behavioural setup where the cues presented to the beetle, including wind, could be carefully controlled (see Box 2, *Paper III*). To define how the *reliability* of wind as an orientation cue varied across a range of speeds, we used *orientation precision* (the beetle's ability to maintain its set bearing over several consecutive trials) as a proxy. Orientation precision was quantified by calculating the beetles' *mean vector length* (Box 2). We trialled beetles at wind speeds of 0.5, 0.8, 1.0, 1.9, 2.5, 3.0, and 4.0 m/s (as measured from the centre of our setup, 1.3 m away from the wind generators, using a hot-wire anemometer). To uphold beetle motivation, a simulated sun was always present in zenith – providing illumination, but no directional information.

I found that, as wind speeds increased, so did the orientation precision of the beetles (see Figure 5, *Paper III*). This suggests that the wind current becomes a more useful orientation cue with increasing speed, as long as it does not blow the beetle off course. Work in walking dung beetles has shown that it is the antennae that detect wind currents (Linsenmair, 1972), and Okubo et al. (2020) have shown that with increased wind speed, the antennae of fruit flies are subject to greater deflections. It may indeed be so that greater deflections of the dung beetle antennae provide a clearer perception of the wind direction.



#### Figure 4: Population orientation precision.

The blue boxes represent the mean vector lengths (used as a proxy for orientation precision, y-axis) of beetles orientating in the presence of a simulated wind at 0.0, 0.5, 0.8, 1.0, 1.5, 1.9, 2.5, 3.0, and 4.0 *m/s* (x-axis). The black bar in each box denotes the median vector length, the whiskers extend to the minimum and maximum values, and blue circles indicate outliers. The pink shaded area illustrates the critical mean vector length, calculated with respect to a significance level of 0.05 (Rayleigh test); if the median mean vector length of the population falls within this area, it signifies that the beetles were unable to maintain a consistent bearing (n = 20). Median mean vector lengths [IQR]: 0.0 *m/s* = 0.26 [0.14, 0.44], 0.5 *m/s* = 0.58 [0.42, 0.77], 0.8 *m/s* = 0.52 [0.38, 0.74], 1.0 *m/s* = 0.47 [0.36, 0.72], 1.5 *m/s* = 0.61 [0.45, 0.80], 1.9 *m/s* = 0.63 [0.54, 0.81], 2.5 *m/s* = 0.68 [0.51, 0.84], 3.0 *m/s* = 0.77 [0.47, 0.89], 4.0 *m/s* = 0.86 [0.48, 93]. Adapted from *Paper III*.

These experiments also enabled me to explore a range of wind speeds under which the dung beetle wind compass can support orientation. The beetles performed consistent wind-guided straight-line orientation in the presence of a wind of 0.5 m/s. Due to boundary layer effects, the wind speeds close to the ground are relatively low (Vogel, 1994). Therefore, it may be considered unsurprising that these insects, that predominantly inhabit the ground when they orientate, are sensitive to low wind speeds. Among other wind orientating beetles, wind sensitivity thresholds of 0.15 m/s have been recorded, and cockroaches can orientate themselves at winds as low as 0.015 m/s (Bell and Kramer, 1979; Linsenmair, 1972). From my studies, it can be concluded that the lower threshold for wind-guided orientation in the dung beetle *K. lamarcki* also lies below 0.5 m/s.

K. lamarcki continued to perform precise wind-guided straight-line orientation even in the presence of a simulated wind at a speed of 4.0 m/s. Similarly, desert ants have been observed to utilise wind currents ranging from 2.0 to 6.0 m/s (Müller and Wehner, 2007). Interestingly, when presenting beetles with high wind speeds, I observe a shift in orientation strategy from anemomenotaxis to positive anemotaxis (For details, see **Section 3**, **Papers I** and **III**). It is important to remember that during its straight-line orientation, the beetle is transporting the large and heavy dung ball backwards with its hind legs, effectively placing it behind the insect. The ball itself might not only obstruct wind input to the wind sensors (*Paper I*), but in the presence of a strong side-wind it may become difficult for the beetle to manoeuvre it in a controlled manner. Thus, orientating upwind when winds are strong may be a strategy utilised by the beetle to ensure that it does not lose touch with its meal.

### 2.6 Sun

An abundance of animals use the sun to steer a desired trajectory, from early studies in ants (Santschi, 1910) and honeybees (von Frisch and Lindauer, 1956), to more recent work in monarch butterflies (Heinze and Reppert, 2011; Mouritsen and Frost, 2002), fruit flies (Beetz and el Jundi, 2018; Giraldo et al., 2018), sandhoppers (Forward et al., 2009), desert ants (Müller and Wehner, 2007; Wehner and Müller, 2006), and birds (Guilford and Taylor, 2014; Schmidt-Koenig et al., 1991). Sunguided orientation has also been repeatedly reported for the ball-rolling dung beetles (Byrne et al., 2003; Dacke et al., 2014). Not only is the sun itself a directional cue, but the scattering of sunlight, as it hits the atmosphere, across the sky also gives rise to several celestial compass cues: a light intensity gradient, a chromatic gradient, and a pattern of polarised light.

Over the day, the sun appears to move across the sky. This presents a challenge for animals that travel long distances, as steering exclusively in relationship to the sun over a longer period will unavoidably result in a curved path. Birds, monarch butterflies and hoverflies are three, among many, well known long-distance migrators whose journeys may span over several weeks. To successfully find their way, these animals employ time compensation mechanisms to correct for its apparent motion of the sun (Guilford and Taylor, 2014; Massy et al., 2021; Mouritsen and Frost, 2002; Reppert et al., 2010). Clock shift experiments reveal that these compensatory mechanisms depend on the animal's circadian clock, which in butterflies is believed to rely on clock proteins in their antennae (Guerra et al., 2012; Merlin et al., 2009). During the short times (on average 6 minutes) that the dung beetle rolls its ball (Dacke et al., 2019), the sun's position does not change markedly, making it an excellent cue to guide their short distance straight-line orientation.



Box 1: Behavioural setup - simulated sun and wind

Figure B1: Simulating sun and wind. Behavioural setup consisting of two metal arches lined with green LEDs (520 *nm*, each simulating a sun), wind generators (asterisks), and a circular, wooden arena with its perimeter labelled from 0-355°. *From Paper III*.

Two metal arches were crossed to form a hemisphere. Both arches were lined with 141 individual LEDs each (520 nm, DotStar; Adafruit Industries, New York, USA). Each LED served as an isolated ersatz sun with an intensity of 2 × 1011 photons/cm<sup>2</sup>/sec as measured from the centre of the setup and at a height of about 7 cm (corresponding to the height of a beetle when atop its dung ball, QE65000; Ocean Optics). Four wind generators, consisting of three individual fans (PFR0912XHEE, 4.50A; Delta Electronics Inc., Taipei City, Taiwan) distributed evenly over 1.0 m, were positioned 1.3 m from the centre of the setup and distributed with an angular separation of 60°. A hot wire anemometer (HHF-SD1; Omega), kept at a height of 7 cm, was used to measure the wind speeds at the centre of the setup. Placed in the centre of the setup was a circular, sandpainted arena (r = 0.3 m), with its perimeter labelled from 0-355°, with 0° aligned with magnetic north. The elevation of the ersatz sun and the wind speed were controlled using a custom-built software in conjunction with a Raspberry Pi 4 Model B. All experiments were filmed using a Sony camera (FDR-AX53 Handycam) mounted on a tripod above the arena. To remove any unwanted orientation cues, the setup was placed inside a 3x3 m tent constructed from blackout cloth.

The usefulness of the sun as an orientation cue is highly reliant upon its elevation and the environmental conditions. In *Paper III*, my colleagues and I evaluated the orientation precision of beetles in the presence of a simulated sun at the elevations  $5^{\circ}$ ,  $20^{\circ}$ ,  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $60^{\circ}$ ,  $75^{\circ}$ ,  $80^{\circ}$ ,  $82^{\circ}$ ,  $84^{\circ}$ ,  $86^{\circ}$ ,  $88^{\circ}$  and  $90^{\circ}$ . We found that orientation precision remained high until a  $75^{\circ}$  solar elevation, after which it declined markedly (see Figure 6). This demonstrates that with increasing elevation, the directional information given by a simulated sun becomes increasingly ambiguous, and in turn its usefulness as a directional cue decreases. In instances when the sun does not provide reliable directional information, the beetle must turn to alternative guidance cues – such as wind.



**Figure 6: Population orientation precision.** The green boxes represent the mean vector lengths (used as a proxy for orientation precision, y-axis) of beetles orientating in the presence of a simulated sun at 5°, 20°, 45°, 60°, 75°, 80°, 82°, 84°, 86°, 88° and 90° (x-axis). The black bar in each box denotes the median vector length, the whiskers extend to the minimum and maximum values, and the green circles indicate outliers. The pink shaded area illustrates the critical mean vector length, calculated with respect to a significance level of 0.05 (Rayleigh test); if the median mean vector length of the population falls within this area, it signifies that the beetles were unable to maintain a consistent bearing (n = 20). Median mean vector lengths [IQR]: 5° = 0.78 [0.71, 0.84], 20° = 0.78 [0.69, 0.86], 45° = 0.74 [0.64, 0.84], 60° = 0.70 [0.61, 0.88], 75° = 0.69 [0.48, 0.80], 80° = 0.55 [0.40, 0.70], 82° = 0.61 [0.40, 0.66], 84° = 0.50 [0.34, 0.67], 86° = 0.41 [0.27, 0.60], 88° = 0.33 [0.19, 0.48], and 90° = 0.37 [0.22, 0.49]. Adapted from **Paper III**.



# 3 The structure and function of the antennae

One of the most noticeable paired sensors across insect species is their *antennae*. Approximately 13 distinct morphologies of insect antennae have been identified (Borror et al., 2005), but their basic divisions are the same; closest to the head of the insect is the *scape*, followed by the *pedicel* and the *flagellum* (Borror et al., 2005; Donley et al., 2022; Schneider, 1964). As can be expected, the antennae of the South African, ball-rolling dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki* also follow to this typical division into scape, pedicel and flagellum (see Figure 7, *Paper II*). The beetle's flagellum, the third antennal segment, is comprised of four *flagellomeres* and a distal *club*. The latter is further divided into plate-like lobes, that the beetle can extend laterally in a fan-like fashion, effectively increasing the surface area of this tiny structure. These *lamellate* antennae (Borror et al., 2005) are characteristic for the family Scarabaeidae.

Among insects, antennae are probably best known as olfactory sense organs (Dethier et al., 1963; Frisch, 1922; Hansson and Stensmyr, 2011; Schlief and Wilson, 2007; Schneider, 1964; Suzuki, 1975). Given their preferred meal, it does not come as a surprise that the antennae of the dung-foraging *K. lamarcki* are covered in hairs, presumably serving an olfactory purpose (see Figure 7, *Paper II*). However, this is yet to be validated. Furthermore, insect antennae have also been suggested to be involved in graviception (Kamikouchi et al., 2009; Matsuo and Kamikouchi, 2013), hygroception (Yokohari et al., 1982), thermoreception (Tichy, 1979) and the monitoring of circadian rhythms (Brady et al., 2021; Merlin et al., 2009). In addition to this, several studies report their role as *airflow sensors* (Gewecke, 1974, 1970; Heinzel and Gewecke, 1987; Yack, 2004); a function involved in head stabilisation and flight control (Chatterjee et al., 2022; Dahake et al., 2018; Sane et al., 2007). In this section of my thesis, I will focus on their role for wind-guided orientation (Birukow, 1958; Böhm, 1995; Linsenmair, 1972).



Figure 7: Scanning electron micrographs of the *K. lamarcki* antenna. (A) The three segments of the lamellate antennae: scape (S), pedicel (P) and the flagellum (F). (B) The scape-pedicellar and pedicellar-flagellar joints. The arrow indicates the input region of the Johnston's organ. *Unpublished data (Paper II)*.

### 3.1 The antennae carry the primary sensors for windguided orientation in the dung beetle *K. lamarcki*

Given that all wind orientating insects studied to date, including running beetles and carrion beetles (Birukow, 1958; Heinzel and Böhm, 1989; Linsenmair, 1972), cockroaches (Bell and Kramer, 1979), desert ants (Müller and Wehner, 2007), and fruit flies (Okubo et al., 2020; Yorozu et al., 2009) decode the directional component of wind with their antennae, this morphological structure has naturally been proposed to serve an important role for wind-guided orientation also in K. lamarcki (Dacke et al., 2019 and *Paper III*). To better define the role of the antennae for wind-guided straight-line orientation in dung beetles, I set out to characterise the orientation precision of beetles with two, one and no antennae in response to simulated wind currents at speeds of 0.5 and 2.5 m/s (Paper I). Since the beetle's motivation to orientate declines in complete darkness, the experiments were conducted with a simulated sun at a  $90^{\circ}$  elevation – providing light, but no directional information (Paper III). Orientation precision was determined by calculating each beetle's mean vector length (r-value) from ten exit angles. I also evaluated the straightness of the beetles' trajectories (quantified from the ratio between the radius of the experimental arena and the beetle's path). The antennal ablations were performed at the base of the scape one day prior to experimentation. All experiments were conducted in our tightly controlled indoor setup (Box 1, page 27).

Provided with simulated wind at a speed of 2.5 m/s, the beetles were able to repeatedly exit the arena along straight, well directed paths (see Figure 8, dark blue boxes, see Figure 9, **Paper I**). After a full ablation of their antennae, the orientation

precision of the beetles fell to values comparable to those reported for beetles orientating without any wind at all (*Paper III*). When presented with the directional information of a simulated sun at a  $45^{\circ}$  elevation, the individuals with *no* antennae regained their ability to steer along their chosen bearings (see Figure 8, green box), clearly showing that with the relevant compass cues available these beetles are still able to perform straight-line orientation. The findings from *Paper I* thus confirm that the antennae serve a critical role for the well documented wind-guided orientation of *K. lamarcki*. For details regarding the exact mechanosensory organ that underlies wind sensing, see *Section 3.5* and *Paper II*.

# 3.2 Beetles with one antenna display a reduction in wind sensitivity

After concluding that beetles without their antennae do not orientate using the wind, I turned my attention to the mechanism behind the extraction of directional information from the wind. I found that in the presence of a wind current of 2.5 m/s, the removal of one antenna led to a subtle, non-significant decrease in both orientation precision and path straightness (see Figures 8 and 9). This demonstrates that albeit the beetles benefit from having two antennae, those with one antenna are still able to steer consistently in the presence of a wind current of 2.5 m/s. Similarly, dung beetles of the genus Geotrupes, and Blatella cockroaches are also able to perform consistent wind-guided orientation with one antenna (Bell and Kramer, 1979; Birukow, 1958; Linsenmair, 1972). Furthermore, I found no influence on orientation behaviour based on whether the left or right antenna had been removed (see Figure 10, right circular plot, orange and purple data points), which suggests that each antenna relays similar wind-induced signals. The details underlying an insect's ability to extract directional information from wind with only one sensor is vet to be unravelled in full. However, preliminary electrophysiological recordings from hawkmoth antennae indicate that the individual sensory units of the chordotonal Johnston's organ, a known wind sensor (see Section 3.5. and Paper II), exhibit directional tuning (Dieudonne et al., 2014). This could enable an animal to discern wind direction with only one antenna. How the sensory units of K. lamarcki's Johnston's organ responds to wind from different directions is a topic for future investigation.

Although dung beetles with *one* antenna continue to consistently steer along their chosen bearings in the presence of a wind current of 2.5 m/s, the loss of one sensor is not completely unproblematic. When guided by winds of 0.5 m/s, the beetles with *one* antenna could no longer reliably steer in a given direction (see Figure 8, pale blue boxes). To summarise, my results clearly show that beetles with *one* antenna can extract directional information from wind at 2.5 m/s, but not at 0.5 m/s,

suggesting that the wind-induced signals from the two sensors are summed. Interestingly, extensive work on the neural circuitry underlying wind-encoding in *Drosophila melanogaster* reveal that integration of wind-induced information from *both* antennae is necessary to accurately gauge wind direction (Okubo et al., 2020) (see *Section 4* of this thesis for details). To fully understand the relationship between the dung beetle's antennae, as well as how its wind-encoding pathway might differ from the fruit fly, electrophysiological experiments are needed.





Boxplots represent the mean vector lengths (used as a proxy for orientation precision) of beetles with *two*, *one* and *no* antennae (see schematics on x-axis) orientating in the presence of simulated winds at 0.5 *m/s* (pale blue boxes), 2.5 *m/s* (dark blue boxes), or 0 *m/s* with a simulated sun at a 45° solar elevation (green box). The black bar in each box represents the median *r*-value, the whiskers extend to the minimum and maximum values, and the open circles indicate outliers. The red line marks the critical mean vector length, calculated with respect to a significance level of 0.05 (Rayleigh test); the fraction of beetles with a distribution of exit angles that exceeded this critical mean vector are indicated above the red line, while the fraction of beetles with a distribution of exit angles that *Gaper I*).


#### Figure 9: Straightness of trajectories.

Boxplots represent path straightness (calculated as the ratio between the direct distance between the centre and exit point on the arena (r = 0.3 m) and the length of the beetle's path) of beetles with *two* antennae and *one* antenna orientating in winds of 2.5 *m/s* (dark blue boxes,  $n = 13_{two antennae}$ ,  $n = 10_{one}$  antenna). The black bar in each box represents the median straightness of each population and the whiskers extend to the minimum and maximum values. *Unpublished data* (*Paper I*).

### 3.3 Beetles adjust their orientation strategy based on wind speed and antennal condition

As briefly touch upon in *Paper III*, dung beetles adjust their wind orientation strategy depending on wind speed; at low speeds, beetles display a tendency to perform *negative anemotaxis*, at medium wind speeds they perform *anemomenotaxis*, and at high speeds they display *positive anemotaxis*. I expand on this finding in *Paper I*, where beetles with *two* antennae again are observed to consistently orientate downwind in the presence of 0.5 m/s wind, i.e. performing negative anemotaxis (see Figure 10, left circular graph). It is important to remember that when transporting their dung balls, the beetles move backwards with the ball secured between the second and third pair of legs. Therefore, by moving downwind, the antennae remain exposed towards the source of the weak wind, which should – at least in theory – effectively maximise the wind input to the sensors. Similarly, when presented with low wind speeds, slugs that use wind currents for olfactory orientation extend their tentacles towards the current (Kalmus, 1942), and cockroaches tend to run upwind at low wind speeds (0.03-0.06 m/s) (Bell and Kramer, 1979). It should be noted that at a wind speed of 0.5 m/s, bearing preference

in relationship to the wind was not analysed for beetles with *one* antenna, as these individuals were unable to orientate themselves in the presence of a wind at that speed. I found no directional preference in relationship to a simulated wind at 2.5 m/s among beetles with *two* antennae, i.e. at this speed of the wind the beetles were performing *menotaxis* (see Figure 10, middle circular graph). Dung beetles are known to orient menotactically in response to wind (*Paper III*), and this is a strategy that certainly works in their favour. At a dung pile, the competition for food is high and beetles are not above resorting to stealing other individuals' balls of dung. However, by orientating menotactically (i.e. in any direction in relationship to the compass cue) as they roll their dung balls away from the pile, the beetles reduce the likelihood of encountering another ball-rolling beetle that could potentially steal its meal. In addition, as the beetles spread in all directions, they also effectively avoid direct competitions for suitable places to bury down with their balls of dung.

Following the experiments detailed above, I proceeded to ablate one antenna from the beetles and, again, evaluated directional preference in relationship to a 2.5 m/ssimulated wind. Interestingly, I now found a tendency of beetles with one antenna to travel upwind in the presence of a 2.5 m/s wind, i.e. they now orientated in accordance with *positive anemotaxis* (see Figure 10, right circular plot). As reported in Paper III, beetles with two antennae also display positive anemotaxis when orientating to a simulated wind of 3.0 m/s. This means that beetles with one antenna orientating to a wind of 2.5 m/s behave as beetles with two antennae orientating in the presence of a stronger 3.0 m/s wind. I did not expect these results, and had rather anticipated beetles with one antenna orientating to a 2.5 m/s wind to display a behaviour that mirrors the negative anemotaxis of beetles with two antennae at 0.5 m/s wind. This raises the question of what exactly triggers the shift in wind orientation strategy (negative anemotaxis, menotaxis, or positive anemotaxis). One, highly speculative, hypothesis is that rather than wind speed, beetles select their orientation strategy on the basis of perceived noise. As wind speed increases so does the propensity for more turbulent airflow (Purcell, 1977; Reynolds, 1883; Vogel, 1994). Therefore, it could be hypothesised that, relative to 2.5 m/s, a wind current at a 3.0 *m/s* speed is turbulent enough to contain a level of noise that triggers positive anemotaxis. Assuming that the loss of one antenna decreases signal-to-noise ratio, it may be that the level noise experienced by beetles with one antenna at 2.5 m/smirrors the noise experienced by beetles with two antennae at 3.0 m/s, consequently eliciting the tendency for upwind orientation.



**Figure 10: Directional preferences in relationship to wind direction** was analysed for beetles whose ten exit angles differed significantly from uniformity ( $p \le 0.05$ , Rayleigh test). All angles are standardised to a wind direction of 0°. Directional preferences of beetles with (A) *two* antennae orientating at winds of 0.5 *m/s*, (B) *two* antennae orientating at winds of 2.5 *m/s*, or (C) *one* antenna orientating at winds of 2.5 *m/s*. Each data point represents the mean direction of a single beetle; colour denotes antennal condition – black: beetles with *two* antennae, purple: beetles with right antenna intact, orange: beetles with left antenna intact. The arrow extending from the centre of each circular plot illustrates the mean direction of the population. The length of the arrow denotes the mean vector length. The red circle in each plot represents the critical mean vector length ( $p \le 0.05$ , Rayleigh test). *Unpublished data* (*Paper I*).

### 3.4 Antennal ablations do not impair the beetles' ability to perform accurate straight-line orientation when guided by a visual directional cue

Not only do insect antennae support wind detection, but they are also known gravity sensors (Kamikouchi et al., 2009; Matsuo and Kamikouchi, 2013). Therefore, in **Paper I**, in parallel to the wind experiments detailed above, I also investigated the effect of the antennal ablations (two, one, no antennae) on the beetles' ability for directed movements. In the sole presence of a simulated sun at a 45° solar elevation, irrespective of antennal condition, the beetles continued to orientate along remarkably straight paths. These results clearly demonstrate that, when guided by a simulated sun, antennal ablations do not impose any marked issues to the beetles' ability to steer straight. While insect antenna can act as graviceptors, they are not the sole sensors that have this function (Frye, 2009). In fact, there are multiple other mechanosensors that serve the same purpose, including cercal hairs, (Horn and Bischof, 1983; Horn and Föller, 2001), halteres (Daltorio and Fox, 2018), campaniform sensilla and prosternal organs (Frye, 2009). Furthermore, stretchreceptive organs similar to the Johnston's organ are not exclusive to the antennae, and can exist in other joints across an insect's body (Field and Matheson, 1998; Moulins, 1976). While we do not yet know the identity of K. lamarcki's additional gravity sensors, my results strongly indicate that these animals do at least not rely heavily on their antennae for locomotory control.

# 3.5 The dung beetle antennae contain a Johnston's organ that shares its morphology with other wind-orienting insects

My results in **Paper I** clearly show that the dung beetle K. lamarcki relies on its antennae to extract directional information from a simulated wind for wind-guided straight-line orientation. This inspired me to focus on the morphology of the putative wind sensor (Paper II). Originally described as the hearing apparatus of mosquitoes by (Johnston, 1855), the chordotonal Johnston's organ has since been the object of much fascination. The Johnston's organ is a highly sensitive mechanoreceptor that is composed of multiple, individual sensory units - scolopidia - arranged radially within the second antennal segment (the pedicel, see Figure 7). The number of scolopidia within the Johnston's organ is variable across insect species, ranging from 19 in miniature wasps (Diakova et al., 2022), 40 in desert ants (Grob et al., 2021b), to roughly 150-200 in fruit flies (Kamikouchi et al., 2006; Todi et al., 2004), and an impressive 7000 in mosquitoes (Boo and Richards, 1975a). The input region of each scolopidium is anchored in a ring of suspension fibres within the pedicellarflagellar joint (Field and Matheson, 1998; Moulins, 1976). Together, the scolopidia detect passive displacements of the flagellum relative to the pedicel (Field and Matheson, 1998; Kavlie and Albert, 2013; Linsenmair, 1972; Moulins, 1976). Such deflections may be caused by wind. In other species of dung beetles, as well as in cockroaches, immobilisation of the pedicellar-flagellar joint eliminates the insect's ability to orientate using wind (Bell and Kramer, 1979; Birukow, 1958; Linsenmair, 1972). Based on these findings, the Johnston's organ is a convincing candidate as the main antennal wind sensor.

The ultrastructure of the antennal Johnston's organ has been unravelled in mosquitoes (Boo and Richards, 1975; Boo and Richards, 1975), sawflies (Hallberg, 1981), thrips (Bode, 1986), stinkbugs (Jeram and Pabst, 1996), leafhoppers and planthoppers (Stacconi and Romani, 2013), ground beetles (Di Giulio et al., 2012; Todi et al., 2004), fruit flies (Todi et al., 2004), and miniature wasps (Diakova et al., 2022). From histological sections of the pedicel of K. lamarcki, I was also able to identify the Johnston's organ in this species (*Paper II*, see Figure 12). As in all insects studied to date, the scolopidia of the dung beetle's Johnston's organ are anchored in a ring of suspension fibres that connect the proximal end of the flagellum to the distal portion of the pedicel. As a result of this arrangement, deflection of the flagellum will impose strain on the input region of the scolopidia, which in turn initiates downstream signalling. Furthermore, I found that the dung beetle scolopidia are grouped into roughly 110 clusters (also termed scoloparia, see Figures 12 and 13A, B and C), with 1-5 scolopidia per cluster. Similar to this, mosquitoes also exhibit a variable number of scolopidia per cluster, but the functional significance of these variations are not fully understood (Boo & Richards, 1975). Sawflies display sex-dependent variability in the number of scolopidia per cluster (Hallberg, 1981), but whether this sexual dimorphism also exists in dung beetles, or indeed, if it carries any ecological significance, remains a topic for future investigation.



**Figure 11: Schematic of a dung beetle scolopidium.** Each scolopidium is anchored to the pedicellarflagellar joint through an electron-dense tube (Tu) and its surrounding attachment cell (AC). Distally, the Tu envelops the long sensory process (SP2) and the shorter sensory processes (SP1), and is embedded within the scolopale rods (SR). The SRs are produced by the scolopale cell (SC) and create a sleeve that surrounds the SP2 and SP1s. At the junction between the cilium and dendrite of each bipolar sensory cell, we find the basal body (BB), as well as the ciliary root (R), of which the latter extends towards the sensory cell-body. A glial cell (GC) secures the sensory cells to the pedicellar cuticle.



#### Figure 12: Light micrographs of sections through the pedicel.

(A) A cross-section of the ring of suspension fibres (SF) that link the pedicel (P) to the flagellum (F), the two branches of the antennal nerve (AN), and trachea. (B) A more proximal cross-section, with clusters of scolopidia embedded within the suspension fibres. (C) Longitudinal section of a group of scolopidia that anchor into the suspension fibres. *Unpublished data (Paper II)*.

Despite the diversity in Johnston's organ size among insects, the ultrastructure of each scolopidium remains largely constrained across the species studied to date (see Figure 11 for a schematic scolopidium of *K. lamarcki*). The characteristic buildingblocks of a single scolopidium are as follows: (1) an *attachment cell*, which fixes the scolopidium to the pedicellar-flagellar joint, (2) a *scolopale cell* that secretes a barrel-shaped sleeve of electron-dense *scolopale rods* that transmit the mechanical stimuli to the (3) *bipolar sensory cells*, whose ciliated dendrites are embedded in the barrel-shaped sleeve of scolopale rods. The sensory cell-bodies are secured to the pedicellar wall by (4) *glial cells*. These four cell types are consistently found within insect scolopidia, including the dung beetle, but do not always manifest in identical arrangements (Field and Matheson, 1998; Moulins, 1976).

I further found that in the Johnston's organ of the dung beetle, each scolopidium is fixed to the pedicellar-flagellar joint via an electron-dense tube and its enveloping attachment cell (see Figures 13D and 14A). Distally, this tube stretches into a thread-like structure and inserts into the suspension fibres. This has also been observed in fruit flies (Uga and Kuwabara, 1965), leafhoppers (Howse and Claridge, 1970), tobacco hawkmoths (Vande Berg, 1971), stinkbugs (Jeram and Pabst, 1996; Stacconi and Romani, 2013), planthoppers (Stacconi and Romani, 2013), and microwasps (Diakova et al., 2022) and is characteristic for *amphinematic* scolopidia. *Mononematic* scolopidia, in which each sensory unit is anchored to the pedicellar-flagellar joint via an electron-dense cap, have been identified in mayflies (Schmidt, 1974), and mosquitoes display both amphinematic and mononematic scolopidia (Boo & Richards, 1975; Boo & Richards, 1975). The functional implications of this electron-dense cap are not fully understood, (Field & Matheson, 1998; Moulins, 1976), but does not appear critical for the sensation of wind induced strain.

In addition to dividing scolopidia based on the morphology of their attachment into the pedicellar-flagellar joint, further divisions are made based on the number of bipolar sensory cells and the structure of their ciliated dendrites (Moulins, 1976). The scolopidia of the dung beetle's Johnston's organ contain *three bipolar sensory cells*, which is a common organisation among the insects studied to date (see Table 9.1. in Moulins (1976)). Furthermore, I observe two types of sensory processes among *K. lamarcki*'s three bipolar sensory cells: two shorter processes (SP1) and one long process (SP2). These sensory processes in turn display structural differences in their dendritic cilia: two of *Type 1* (extends into the scolopale space, uniform diameter, and an orderly array of microtubules), and one of *Type 2* (extends into the electron-dense tube, variable diameter, unorganised array of microtubules). This arrangement is shared with a range of insects (Boo & Richards, 1975; Boo & Richards, 1975; Di Giulio et al., 2012; Diakova et al., 2022; Moulins, 1976; Stacconi & Romani, 2013; Vande Berg, 1971).

The functional significance of the two cilia types remains unexplored. It has been suggested that the structural differences affect the type of stimulus that is detected (Field and Matheson, 1998; Moulins, 1976; Stacconi and Romani, 2013). In fact, fruit flies (Kamikouchi et al., 2009; Yorozu et al., 2009) and hawkmoths (Sane et al., 2007) display distinct groups of JO sensory cells that are tuned to specific frequencies; some are sensitive to high-frequency antennal vibrations (e.g. caused by acoustic signals), while others rather respond to low-frequency stimuli, e.g. wind-induced deflections. Though dung beetles are not known to orientate to acoustic signals, they do detect the vibrations caused by their developing larvae (Hanski and Cambefort, 1991). And as shown in *Papers I*, *III* and *IV*, *K. lamarcki* is capable of detecting and orientating to a wind stimulus. Further investigation is necessary to better understand if the differences in cilia structure play a role in which stimulus is detected by each sensory cell.

Taken together, my work in *Paper II*, reveals that the morphology of the dung beetle Johnston's organ shares many of its characteristics with those identified for other insects. Its scolopidia are grouped into approximately 110 clusters, with 1 to 5 scolopidia per cluster. This first detailed morphological description of the dung beetle Johnston's organ provides a solid foundation for further characterisation of its role in the decoding of wind direction.



#### Figure 13: Serial cross-sections of scolopidia in the pedicel of the dung beetle K. lamarcki.

Left panel: schematic scolopidia with positions of cross-sections denoted by letters corresponding to the right panel. (A) Five clusters (white circles), each with varying scolopidia number, supported by suspension fibres (SF). Scale bar 5 µm. (B) Two clusters (white circle), with three and four scolopidia respectively. Scale bar 2 µm. (C) A single cluster with five scolopidia (green outlines), each electrondense tube (Tu) is associated with one scolopidium. Scale bar 500 nm. (D) The attachment cell (AC) enveloping the Tu, in which the cilia of the long sensory process (SP2c) is sheathed. Scale bar 500 nm. (E) At a more proximal level, the Tu appears more ruffled and the ring of scolopale rods (SR) surrounding the sensory processes comes into view. The SRs are secreted by the scolopale cell (SCN) which displays the vacuolated structure characteristic of secretory cells. Scale bar 500 nm. (F) Proximally, the cilia of two additional sensory processes (SP1c) - which are shorter and have a smaller diameter compared to the SP2c - emerge in the scolopale space, the Tu begins to disappear, and electron-dense material that is visually similar to the Tu is interspersed in the vacuolated scolopale cell (orange arrowheads). Scale bar 2 µm. (G) Proximal to the sensory cell bodies, the axonemes of the two SP1 cilia display a 9+0 microtubuli doublet arrangement, the diameter of the SP2c decreases and its microtubuli remains unorganised, the Tu no longer envelops the cilia. Scale bar 2 µm. (H, I) Closer images of the two SP1 cilia in figure (G), clearly showing the 9+0 microtubuli doublets characteristic of these cilia. Scale bar 50nm. Unpublished data (Paper II).



**Figure 14:** Longitudinal sections of scolopidia in the pedicel of the dung beetle *K. lamarcki*. Central panel: a schematic scolopidium inferred from the electron micrographs acquired for this study. (A) The electron-dense tube (Tu), the attachment cell nucleus (AC), the scolopale cell nucleus (SC), scolopale rods (SR), and the Type 2 cilium of the long sensory process (SP2c). Scale bar 2  $\mu$ m. (B) The Type 2 cilium of the long sensory process (SP2c). Scale bar 2  $\mu$ m. (B) The Type 2 cilium of the long sensory process (SP2c), clearly showing the distal basal body (dBB) and the dendrite (SP2d). Scale bar 500 nm. (C) Overview micrograph of scolopidia demonstrating the cell bodies of the bipolar sensory cells (SCB) and the supporting glial cell (GC). Scale bar 10  $\mu$ m. (D) Electron-dense tube (Tu), scolopale rods (SR), Type 1 cilia of the short sensory processes (SP1c), the dendrite of the short sensory processes (SP1d), distal basal body (dBB). Scale bar 2  $\mu$ m. The inset shows the cilium-dendrite junction. Scale bar 200 nm. (E) The proximal basal body (pBB), and the ciliary root (R). Scale bar 2  $\mu$ m, the inset highlights the pBB and the R. Scale bar 200 nm. (F) The sensory cell nucleus and the R which extends through the dendrite and into the soma. Scale bar 1  $\mu$ m. Unpublished data (Paper II).



### 4 The neuronal basis of steering

### 4.1 The insects' internal compass is located in the centre of its brain

For an animal to successfully travel along a given bearing, it must continuously compare its current heading to its desired heading. When these headings do not align, the animal has to employ compensatory steering movements to continue its journey in the direction it aims to go. This holds true for moths migrating across Australia (Drever et al., 2018), ants navigating back to their nest (Wehner, 2020), and beetles transporting their balls of dung away from a dung pile (Baird et al., 2010; Dacke and el Jundi, 2018). In insects, the comparison between current and desired headings is performed in a brain region termed the *central complex* (CX) (el Jundi et al., 2018; Heinze, 2024; Honkanen et al., 2019; Mussells Pires et al., 2024; Pfeiffer and Homberg, 2014; Westeinde et al., 2024). The neuroarchitecture of this central brain region is highly conserved across all insect species studied to date, including the dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki*, and can be divided into four neuropils: the protocerebral bridge (PB), the fan shaped body (FB), the ellipsoid body (EB) and a pair of noduli (NO) (see Figure 15, (el Jundi et al., 2019, 2018; Immonen et al., 2017)). The CX is further arranged into vertical columns, connected via columnar neurons extending from the PB to columns in either the FB or the EB (el Jundi et al., 2018; Hanesch et al., 1989; Heinze et al., 2013; Heinze and Homberg, 2008; Hulse et al., 2020; Wolff and Rubin, 2018).



Figure 15: Volumetric rendering of neuropils in the brain of K. lamarcki.

Depicted are the antennal lobes (AL, blue), the lateral accessory lobes (LAL, white), the antennal mechanosensory and motor centres (AMMC, purple), the periesophageal neuropils (PENP, pale purple), and the central complex (green). The central complex is in turn divided into the fan shaped body (FB), the ellipsoid body (EB), the protocerebral bridge (PB) and the paired noduli (NO). *From (Immonen et al., 2017).* 

To discern its current body orientation with respect to the surrounding space, an animal can rely on *idiothetic* (internal) or *allothetic* (external) cues. Idiothetic cues – that arise as a function of the movement of the animal itself – unavoidably accumulate errors over time. Consequently, directional information from external directional cues, whose position in space remain unaffected by the movement of the animal, becomes advantageous to support navigation over longer distances (Cheung et al., 2007; Souman et al., 2009). The accumulation of errors in the absence of external direction information can clearly be observed in *K. lamarcki* when striving to move its ball of dung along a consistent bearing in the dark; in the absence of visual cues, it soon begins to circle (Khaldy et al., 2019)

In insects, the orientation of the body relative to the external world is decoded in the *head direction circuit* of the CX. This neuronal network is composed of neurons with dendritic arborisations in the EB and PB (E-PG and P-EN neurons, respectively). Recent results from the study of the head direction circuit in *Drosophila melanogaster* reveal that directional information, from e.g. visual and mechanosensory brain regions, is relayed to the EB via *ring neurons* that encode the azimuth of available directional cues (Okubo et al., 2020; Seelig and Jayaraman, 2013). These neurons synapse onto E-PG neurons, whose subsequent responses manifests as an *activity bump* that conveys the animal's current head direction in relationship to the external world (Seelig and Jayaraman, 2015; Stone et al., 2017).

If an animal rotates, the representation of the heading direction in the EB (the activity bump) must be updated accordingly. In flies, this is made possible by the P-EN neurons (Green et al., 2017; Turner-Evans et al., 2017). The P-ENs extend from the PB to the EB and form a recurrent circuit with E-PG neurons. If the insect is moving along a straight line, the activity in P-EN neurons is equal in both hemispheres of the PB and the activity bump in the EB is stabilised in one position. If the animal then rotates, certain populations of P-EN neurons will be excited, causing an increase in activity in one hemisphere (Honkanen et al., 2019). Due to the nature of the P-EN connections to the E-PGs, this imbalance in P-EN activity across the hemispheres will excite a different subset of E-PGs and inhibit others, thus shifting the activity bump to match the new head direction in relation to the external cues (see Figure 16, (Honkanen et al., 2019)).

Neurons and neuronal structures analogous to those describe above have been identified in the brain of the dung beetle *K lamarcki* (el Jundi et al., 2018, 2015; Immonen et al., 2017), and it is reasonable to assume that rotational movements are decoded and support the beetle's representation of its head direction according to the same neuronal principles. Electrophysiological recordings from ring neurons and E-PG neurons in the beetle brain also clearly demonstrate that these cells respond to the azimuthal position of visual directional cues (el Jundi et al., 2015). Wind-sensitive cells (see *Section 4.3*) are however yet to be identified within the dung beetle's CX.



#### Figure 16: The head direction circuit of the fruit fly and its tracking of rotational movements.

Illustrated is the activity bump (green) in the ellipsoid body (EB) and the corresponding activity in the protocerebral bridge (PB). Black arrowheads in PB columns illustrate directional preference of each column. When the fly is stationary, P-EN activity remains balanced between the brain hemispheres and the E-PG activity bump is stabilised. Rotation causes imbalanced P-EN activity, resulting in excitation (thick arrows) of certain E-PGs and inhibition (thin arrows) of others, subsequently leading to an updated representation of the head direction. *From Honkanen et al. (2019).* 

## 4.2 Towards a definition of the wind compass pathway of the beetle *K. lamarcki*

In dung beetles, previous dye injections at the level of the antennal flagellum revealed projections from the antennal nerve into the *antennal lobe* (AL), the *antennal mechanosensory and motor centre* (AMMC), and the *gnathal ganglia* (GNG) (Immonen et al., 2017). These injections did however not aim to define whether these projections were Johnston's organ specific or if they originated from other sensors in the antennae, for example from olfactory hairs strewn across the flagellum. To define the dung beetle's wind-encoding pathway, and to discern the projection pattern of Johnston's organ neurons in the brain, I decided to perform anterograde, differential staining of the antennal nerve and Johnston's organ afferents (Box 2). This allowed me to distinguish fibres that specifically originate in the Johnston's organ and how they project into the beetle's brain.

While preliminary, my results verify that afferent neurons from the dung beetle Johnston's organ project to the antennal lobe (AL) (see Figure 17). A portion of these fibres bypass the AL and instead project into the closely associated antennal mechanosensory and motor centre AMMC (see Figure 17). From there, I observe a visible branch extending into the periesophageal neuropils (PENP), possibly projecting to the gnathal ganglia (GNG) (see Figure 17). These Johnston's organ projections are in line with what Immonen et al. (2017) observe in their antennal staining, as well as what has been identified in desert ants (Grob et al., 2021b), honeybees (Ai et al., 2006), and fruit flies (Kamikouchi et al., 2006). In these insects, the axons of the bipolar sensory cells of the Johnston's organ gather into distinct bundles that project alongside the antennal nerve before converging with it near the scape-pedicellar joint (Ai et al., 2006; Grob et al., 2021b; Kamikouchi et al., 2006). In parallel to what I observe in the beetles, some of these antennal nerve's afferent projections extend to the *antennal lobe*, while another portion relays information to the antennal mechanosensory and motor centre (AMMC, see Figure 15). Furthermore, in the desert ant, Johnston's organ fibres project to the ventral complex, the ventrolateral protocerebrum, and the posterior slope, which are brain regions known to receive visual input, indicating areas where information from multisensory cues converge (Grob et al., 2021b). I could not observe similar fibres, or neurons projecting in closer proximity to the central complex; whether this is rooted in species-dependent differences, or an artefact of sample preparation is unknown at this stage. To further unravel the wind-pathway of the dung beetle K. *lamarcki*, additional antennal dye injections, coupled with electrophysiology, are needed.



Figure 17. Optical sections through the antennal lobe in the brain of *K. lamarcki* from anterior (A) to posterior (C); stained with anti-synapsin (grey) and dye injected (magenta) at the antennal level. The fibres labelled in magenta originate in the second antennal segment, the pedicel. Antennal lobe, AL; Periesophageal neuropils, PENP, Antennal mechanosensory and motor centre, AMMC; Antennal nerve, AN. Scalebar 100  $\mu m$ .

## 4.3 The pathway from the antennae to the central complex

In contrast to our current, limited understanding of the neural circuitry that underlies the processing of directional information given by wind in the beetle, this circuitry has been described in detail in the fruit fly *D. melanogaster* (Currier et al., 2020; Okubo et al., 2020; Suver et al., 2019) (see Figure 18). Here, wind induced signals elicited by antennal displacements are transmitted from the AMMC to a brain region called the *wedge*; specifically, to GABAergic neurons termed *WL-L* (one per brain hemisphere). The WL-L neurons transfer the wind-induced signal to a subset of ring neurons (termed *R1*) in the *lateral accessory lobe* (LAL) in the opposite brain hemisphere (Okubo et al., 2020). The R1 neurons, in turn, relay their wind-input to the E-PG neurons. Calcium imaging of activity in the EB of restrained fruit flies confirm that *i*) wind elicits an activity bump in the head direction circuit and *ii*) when the wind direction is shifted, the bump responds accordingly (Okubo et al., 2020).

Upon excitation of one of the WL-L neurons, Okubo et al. (2020) observe an inhibitory response in the contralateral R1 ring neurons, and excitation in the ipsilateral R1s. In other words, the R1s receive antagonistic input from the two WL-L neurons, which in turn are stimulated by displacements in the contralateral antenna, thereby bridging the circuit between antennae and head direction network. The relative ratio of inhibition and excitation imposed on each R1 by the ipsi- and contralateral WL-L neurons varies depending on antennal displacement, which in turn is dependent on wind direction. Electrophysiological recordings of R1 activity in response to wind from different directions clearly demonstrate that the bilateral integration results in R1s with individual directional tuning, i.e. a preferred wind

direction that elicits greater activity compared to other wind directions. Interestingly, the R1 tuning curves proved relatively unaffected by wind strength, and Okubo et al. (2020) suggest that this is an effect of the bilateral integration. Notably, the wind-encoding pathway described in fruit flies relies on information from *both* of the insect's antennae in order to extract directionality from wind. This stands in contrast to my behavioural work presented in *Paper I*, where I find that beetles with *one* antenna continue to perform consistent and precise wind-guided straight-line orientation. Given that in fruit flies, each WL-L carries displacement information from *one* antenna, and wind direction is given as a result of the bilateral integration of input from both WL-L neurons. If found, further electrophysiological studies would be valuable to understand how their signalling of wind compares to that of the fruit fly. The decoding of wind from *one* antenna alone, as observed in beetles (*Paper I*), would possibly require alternative encoding properties or alternative pathways.



### Figure 18. Schematic wiring diagram illustrating the cell types and connections involved in transducing mechanosensory information from antennal displacements to the head direction network.

The E-PG neurons are only four synapses downstream from the antennal Johnston's organ. Signals originating from mechanosensors in the antennae remain unilateral as they are relayed to the contralateral WL-L via the ipsilateral AMMC (blue connections). Wind-induced signals from each antenna do not converge until they reach the ring neurons (black connections), where bilateral integration occurs. R3a is another subset of wind-sensitive ring neuron, however their contribution to the EP-G wind response weaker compared to R1; silencing R3a had no effect on the activity bump's response to wind, whereas silencing the R1s eliminated wind EP-G wind responses. Filled circle indicate excitatory connections, the resistor symbol illustrates connections through gap junctions, and the bar represents inhibitory connections. *From Okubo et al. (2020).* 

#### Box 2: Anterograde staining of antennal projections

To visualise the neuronal projections from the antennal Johnston's organ. I performed anterograde, differential dve injections in accordance with the protocol detailed in (Grob et al., 2021) (see Figure B2). To distinguish between projections from the Johnston's organ and the remainder of the antennae, this method relies on differential staining; (1) the antenna was cut at the first flagellomere and a green dye (Dextran Alexa Fluor 488, D22910, Life Technologies GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany) was injected, (2) the antenna was cut more proximally, at the pedicellar level, and a magenta dye (micro-Ruby, D-7162, Life Technologies GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany) was injected. As a consequence of this type of staining, all afferent projections from the antenna will be stained green, whereas those originating in the pedicel will be stained magenta. After allowing sufficient time for the dyes to be transported into the brain, the brains were dissected and put through an immunohistochemistry protocol with anti-synapsin antibodies (SYNORF1, mouse@synapsin) to visualise the neuropils and make it easier to discern into which brain region the dye-injected neurons project.



Figure B2. Schematic beetle antenna illustrating the distalmost flagellum, the pedicel (wherein the wind-sensitive Johnston's organ lies), and the scape, the most proximal antennal segment. The green and magenta triangles denote where the respective dyes were injected. The antennal nerve is labelled in green, and the Johnston's organ afferent projections are labelled magenta.

### 4.4 Weighted cue integration for straight-line orientation

In nature, animals often have an abundance of external directional cues at their disposal, and these multiple sources of directional information are also often combined to guide a given behaviour (Buehlmann et al., 2020b). Cue integration is a well-known phenomenon in humans (Chen et al., 2017; Ernst and Banks, 2002; Ernst and Bülthoff, 2004; Nardini et al., 2008), monkeys (Fetsch et al., 2011; Gu et al., 2008), rodents (Jeffery et al., 2016; Knight et al., 2014), and insects (Buehlmann et al., 2020b). It has, for instance, been shown that deserts ants integrate celestial and terrestrial cues (Collett, 2012; Collett and Cardé, 2014; Legge et al., 2014; Wystrach et al., 2015), as well as the directional information provided by the sun and the wind (Collett and Cardé, 2014; Müller and Wehner, 2007; Wehner et al., 2016), to find their way home. Long distance migrators, such as bogong moths and monarch butterflies rather rely on combinations of the earth's magnetic field, the visual panorama, and celestial cues to guide their impressive journeys (Drever et al., 2018; Franzke et al., 2020; Reppert et al., 2010). Not surprisingly, integration of directional information from the sun, other skylight cues and wind has also repeatedly been demonstrated to support straight-line orientation (Dacke et al., 2019; Khaldy et al., 2022); Paper III). The underlying integration mechanisms at play are however harder to define.

An integration mechanism that is frequently presented in the literature is the 'winner-take-all (WTA)', in which an animal faced with multiple cues gauges the reliability of each and subsequently appoints maximum weight to the cue deemed most robust, ignoring the other. This integration strategy was previously proposed as a possible explanation for K. lamarcki's apparent "switch" from a sun guided compass to a wind guided compass when the reliability of the former declined in the middle of the day (Dacke et al., 2019), but was later proven wrong by my work presented further below. Another possible mechanism is the 'weighted arithmetic mean (WAM)' and its circular equivalent the 'weighted vector sum (WVS)', wherein the weight given to each cue is averaged to generate a combined estimate (Murray and Morgenstern, 2010). WAM and WVS are considered statistically optimal integration mechanisms, meaning that they strive to minimise the variance of the combined estimate, in turn maximising its reliability (Hoinville and Wehner, 2018; Murray and Morgenstern, 2010). It is important to note that this does not necessarily mean that the variance of the combined cue is lower than that of the individual cues. When the directional information from different sources points in difference directions, integration by either of these averaging strategies can result in an intermediate path (Khaldy et al., 2022; Lebhardt and Ronacher, 2014; Legge et al., 2014; Wehner et al., 2016; Wystrach et al., 2014).

My colleagues and I were interested in expanding the work on sun and wind integration in *K. lamarcki* (*Paper III*) and to identify the integration strategy at play. To do this, we took beetles into a tightly controlled indoor setup (Box 1, page 27)

and performed a series of cue conflict experiments (0°, 60° or 120° azimuthal conflict) between a simulated sun and a simulated wind. As we observed a decrease in orientation precision with increasing solar elevation (*Section 2*), we chose to conduct the experiments at solar elevations of 45°, 60°, 75° and 86°. The simulated wind was set to 2.5 *m/s*. For a schematic of the experimental flow, see Figure 19A. For detailed description of the experimental methods see *Paper III*.



#### Figure 19: Behavioural results obtained in cue conflict experiments.

(A) Experimental procedure. The beetles' response to the cue conflicts was calculated as the change in heading between two consecutive exits:  $1^{st}$  exit with the cues aligned (initial bearing), and  $2^{nd}$  exit where beetles were subjected to a 0°, 60° or 120° cue conflict (test condition). (B) Changes in heading at 2.5 *m/s* wind speed (black data points) and 1.25 *m/s* (grey data points). Lines extending from the centre of the graphs indicate the population mean vector, as well as the 95% confidence interval. Elevations are indicated above the graphs. (C) Experimental procedure carried out during the three-day trials, during which the 2.5 *m/s* wind was shifted by 120° in relation to the simulated sun. (D) Changes in heading across three days. Each coloured data point indicates the response of the same individual beetle. *From Paper III.* 

## 4.5 Dung beetles integrate sun and wind cues continuously and in a weighted manner

When the directional information of the simulated sun and simulated wind were aligned ( $0^{\circ}$  cue conflict), we observed that the beetles maintained their bearings between two consecutive exits regardless of solar elevation (see Figure 19B, top row, black data points), clearly demonstrating that our setup could be used to sustain straight-line orientation. Similarly, at a 45° solar elevation, when the wind direction was shifted by 60° and 120°, the beetles continued along their initial bearings, suggesting that they were primarily relying on the simulated sun to guide their behaviour (see Figure 19B, first column, black data points), or in other words, the sun was afforded greater weight relative to the simulated wind. In contrast, at 86° and  $75^{\circ}$  solar elevations, the beetles responded to the  $60^{\circ}$  and  $120^{\circ}$  directional change of the wind by adjusting their travel direction in accordance with it, demonstrating that at these elevations, the wind, rather than the sun, was afforded greater weight (see Figure 19B, third and fourth columns, black data points). Initially, it may appear as though the beetles were simply selecting the more reliable cue over the other, which implies that they rely on the WTA integration strategy previously suggested (Dacke et al., 2019). However, in this more tightly controlled setting, we could convincingly demonstrate that the population spread increased with increasing conflict, suggesting that both cues were in fact being integrated continuously. This would not be the case in a strict WTA, but could be described by a circular, weighted integration model in which all available cues are considered when generating a combined directional reference (Murray and Morgenstern, 2010).

## 4.6 Orientation behaviour is variable when cue reliabilities intersect

Our results suggested that the solar elevation at which the reliability of the 2.5 m/s simulated wind succeeds that of the simulated sun is between 45° and 75°. At a 60° solar elevation, the beetles again responded in accordance with the 60° directional shift of the simulated wind, but – quite to our surprise – when the cue conflict was set to 120°, the beetles appeared disoriented (see Figure 19B, second column). Additional experiments revealed that beetles exposed to this 120° conflict between the sun and the wind were able to maintain their new "random" bearing consistently, and when the cues were returned to their initial, aligned position, the beetles recovered their initial bearings. This demonstrates that the beetles are not lost when the sun, at a 60° elevation, and the wind (2.5 m/s) are placed in a 120° conflict, and that the beetles' seemingly random bearings taken under this specific condition was an effect of their integration strategy. Similarly, the ball-rolling dung beetles

*Garreta unicolor* and *Garreta nitens* appear disoriented when presented with a conflict between a sun cue and polarised light, but recover their initial bearings when the cues are returned to their original positions (Chen et al., 2017; Khaldy et al., 2021). Furthermore, bogong moths presented with a conflict between the magnetic field and visual landmarks fly in a seemingly disoriented manner but, again, when the cues are returned to their original positions the moths recover their initial bearings (Dreyer et al., 2018).

My colleagues and I hypothesised that at a  $60^{\circ}$  solar elevation and a 2.5 *m/s* wind speed the reliabilities of the simulated sun and simulated wind intersect. To study this in closer detail we repeated the experimental condition ( $60^{\circ}$  solar elevation,  $120^{\circ}$  conflict) with one population across three days. We found that the response to the azimuthal shift of the simulated wind varied over the days (see Figure 19C and D, first column). In a WTA, the intersecting reliabilities would result in a randomly broken tie, and we would have expected to observe two distinct responses among the beetles (one group of beetles that relied on the sun and one group that relied on the wind). This variability in population response when cue reliabilities are similar acts as further evidence that the beetles compass system does not employ a WTA, but rather a weighted integration strategy.

## 4.7 The weight given to a cue is determined by its relative reliability

Moving forward, we wanted to understand what cue parameter(s) that control the relative weight given to its directional information. We therefore conducted the same experimental assay as detailed above, but lowered the wind speed to 1.25 m/s. Interestingly, we found that the beetles now afforded greater relative weight to the simulated sun up to a  $75^{\circ}$  solar elevation (previously at this elevation the 2.5 m/s wind had dominated). At an 86° solar elevation, the beetles again responded to the directional shift of the simulated wind, implying that they are now weighing the wind above the sun (see Figure 19B, grey data points). This demonstrates a highly dynamic and adaptable compass system in which the relative reliability of a cue seems to determine the weight afforded to it, similar to what has previously been observed in humans (Chen et al., 2017), homing ants (Lebhardt and Ronacher, 2014; Legge et al., 2014; Wystrach et al., 2014) and dung beetles orienting to sun and polarised light (Khaldy et al., 2022).

# 4.8 The behavioural data is best replicated by a vector summation model with non-optimal weights and small, individual biases

To further uncover the integration strategy at play, five cue integration models were tested against each other to determine their likelihood to predict our behavioural data. These models were: winner-take-all (WTA), the linear weighted arithmetic mean (WAM) and its circular equivalent the weighted vector sum (WVS). We also included a non-optimal vector sum (NVS), which exaggerates the pseudo-WTA observed in our results. Finally, to account for the variable behaviour seen when the reliabilities of the cues intersect, we included a non-optimal vector sum with small, individual biases for either cue (BVS). We found that the BVS best replicated our behavioural data (see Figure 20), leading us to conclude that *K. lamarcki* integrates cues in a non-optimal weighted manner, with individual biases that come into play when cues are similarly reliable and thus close in weight. For in-depth details regarding the modelling and behavioural work, see *Paper III*.



Example output populations under different models



The *top row* presents two sample von Mises distributions (the circular equivalent of a normal distribution) representing the directional cues (wind – blue, sun – green); the distributions are derived from the behavioural data that defined orientation precision in the presence of the isolated cues and are used as inputs to the integration models; the dotted lines indicate cue azimuth ( $0^\circ$ ,  $60^\circ$ , and 120° conflict represented in the first, second, and third row respectively). In these simulations, the wind (blue) is given greater relative weight compared to the sun (green). The *remaining rows* show the estimated distributions and mean directions from each integration model when given the sample von Mises distributions; vertical dotted lines indicate mean direction of the simulated population. The mean direction generated when the sample distributions are input to the BVS (Biased Weighted Vector Sum) integration strategy best replicates our behavioural results. *From Paper III*.

## 4.9 The role of the antennae on the relative weight given to the directional information provided by wind

As established in **Paper I**, dung beetles with only *one* antenna are less sensitive to the simulated wind. How does this affect the relative weight given to the directional information provided by the wind? To answer this, I decided to expose beetles with *one* antenna to a  $120^{\circ}$  directional conflict between wind at 2.5 *m/s* and a simulated

sun at elevations of varying usefulness ( $45^{\circ}$  and  $75^{\circ}$  solar elevations) (*Paper I*). Consistent with our findings in *Paper III*, I observe that the relative weight afforded to the simulated wind increases as the simulated sun is shifted from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $75^{\circ}$ . However, the magnitude of this increase in relative weight varies depending on the antennal condition; at a  $75^{\circ}$  solar elevation, beetles with *one* antenna exhibit a weaker response to the  $120^{\circ}$  conflict between the sun and the wind. This demonstrates that beetles with *one* antenna afford less relative weight to the simulated wind compared to when they have *two* antennae (see Figure 21). In other words, in a scenario with multiple cues, the wind-induced directional information is relatively less useful when sensed by *one* antenna, similar to when its speed is reduced from 2.5 to 1.25 *m/s* (*Paper III*). These results further highlight the importance of the antennae for wind-guided straight-line orientation, as well as the dynamic nature of the beetle's compass system.



Figure 21: Changes in heading in response to a 120° cue conflict between a simulated sun and a simulated wind.

(A) Schematic depiction of the cue conflict experimental procedure. Changes in heading were quantified by calculating the difference between two consecutive exits; the 3<sup>rd</sup> overall exit, during which the simulated sun and the wind were in alignment, and the 4<sup>th</sup> overall exit, during which the directional information of the two cues was placed in a 120° conflict. (B) Changes in heading in response to the 120° cue conflict of beetle populations with *two* antennae (upper panel) and *one* antenna (lower panel), at 45° (left circular plots) and 75° (right circular plots) solar elevations. The wind was set to 2.5 *m*/s across all experiments. Each data point denotes the change in heading of an individual beetle. The arrow extending from the centre of the circular plots illustrates the population mean change in heading. The length of the arrow represents the mean vector length. The red circle represents the critical mean vector length (calculated with respect to *p* ≤ 0.05, Rayleigh test). *Unpublished data (Paper I)*.

#### 4.10 Are two cues better than one?

In *Paper III*, my colleagues and I concluded that (1) the reliability of a simulated sun for directional input decreases with increasing elevation, (2) the reliability of a simulated wind for directional input increases with increasing speed. (3) dung beetles integrate cues according to a weighted vector summation, and (4) while they afford greatest relative weight to the cue perceived to be most reliable in a moment in time, all available cues are continuously considered. The integration of directional information from multiple sources to guide a certain task is well-established within the field of behavioural control. Studies in e.g. humans (Ernst and Banks, 2002; Ernst and Bülthoff, 2004; Nardini et al., 2008), fruit flies (Chow and Frye, 2008), butterflies (Franzke et al., 2020), hawkmoths (Goyret et al., 2007), and ants (Buehlmann et al., 2020a) show that combining information from several, multimodal sources creates a robust estimate that facilitates more accurate behavioural output. Naturally, I wished to behaviourally investigate whether this also held true for the guidance of straight-line steering in the dung beetle K. lamarcki - in other words, are two cues better than one? To address this question, I brought the beetles into the behavioural setup detailed in Box 1 (page 27) and allowed them to exit the arena ten times in the presence of either (1) a simulated sun or a simulated wind, or (2) a simulated sun and a simulated wind. This was followed by ten exits where (1) a simulated sun or a simulated wind was added, or (2) a simulated sun or a simulated wind was removed. This procedure was repeated at 45° and 75° solar elevations, with the wind speed fixed at 2.5 m/s. The sun, at a set elevation, intensity, and azimuth serves as a relatively noise-free directional cue, whereas a wind current, with its propensity for turbulence, possesses relatively greater inherent variability.

I found that at a 45° solar elevation, the orientation precision of the beetles consistently *increased*, or remained unchanged, in the presence of a simulated sun and simulated wind (see Figure 22A). Interestingly, when increasing the solar elevation to 75°, orientation precision rather *decreased* in the presence of both cues compared to when beetles only had one cue at their disposal (see Figure 22B). My results suggest that the influence of cue noise on the behavioural output is dependent on cue weight; at a 75° solar elevation, the relative weight of the directional cues shifted towards the wind, and thus its inherent noise began to weigh more as well. These findings clearly demonstrate that drawing guidance information from multiple cues does not necessarily generate the most accurate behaviour. There are few accounts of similar results in the literature; studies on odour plume tracking in male cockroaches have shown that the addition of a visual stimulus does not result in more accurate tracking (Willis et al., 2011, 2008), and the loss of a simulated wind during odour tracking does not affect the performance of the same cockroach species (Willis et al., 2008). These results stand in contrast to similar work in ants, where the animals displayed straighter tracking paths when provided with both odour and visual cues compared to when they only had an odour cue (Buehlmann et al., 2020a).



Figure 22: Orientation precision (r) in the presence of one or two directional cues.

The boxplots show the median (black line) orientation precision, interquartile range (boxes), and the minimum and maximum values (whiskers) of beetles rolling their dung balls in the presence of one (sun or wind) or two (sun and wind) directional cues, at a (A) 45° solar elevation, and (B) 75° solar elevation. *Adapted from Paper IV.* 

### 4.11 Weight-by-reliability or weight-by-contrast?

It is important to note that while we use beetle orientation precision in the presence of isolated directional cues as a *proxy* for cue reliability (*Paper III*), my behavioural work in *Paper IV* indicates that this is likely a simplified view. As reported in *Paper III*, the beetles' orientation precision in the sole presence of a simulated sun at a  $45^{\circ}$  elevation does not markedly differ from their orientation precision in the sole presence of a simulated sun at a  $75^{\circ}$  elevation – in other words, there is no difference in reliability between these two elevations of the simulated sun. Despite this, when presented in conflict with a wind at 2.5 *m/s*, the *influence* of the simulated sun on the behavioural output changes drastically when its elevation is increased from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $75^{\circ}$  (*Papers III* and *IV*); at a  $45^{\circ}$  solar elevation, the simulated sun is afforded greater relative weight compared to the wind, and when the elevation is increased to  $75^{\circ}$ , it is rather the wind that is afforded greater relative weight. This indicates that it is not strictly reliability that affects cue weight, and the subsequent directional influence that a directional cue poses on the combined estimate, but rather an additional property of the directional cues.

From our behavioural and modelling work in *Paper IV*, we can conclude the beetles possibly weigh cues by *contrast*, that in many instances will also be tightly linked to reliability. As the elevation of the simulated sun increases, the difference in light intensity between the solar and antisolar hemispheres decreases; thus, the reliability

of the sun (its variance of over time) does not change, but its contrast does. A wind current is, simply by its nature, a more variant directional cue compared to a fixed. simulated sun, i.e. it is less reliable relative to the light cue. However, while wind is a relatively noisier directional cue, when set to a constant speed its contrast remains unchanged. If cue weight is determined by contrast, we expect beetles to afford greater relative weight to a simulated wind at a set speed of 2.5 m/s when presented together with a simulated sun at a 75° elevation. However, as the beetles now give greater weight to the more variant (less reliable) wind, we also expect their orientation performance to be less precise compared to when the fixed sun is afforded more weight. Indeed, I observe both of these behavioural results in the work conducted in *Papers III* and *IV*, suggesting that within the integration strategy employed by the beetles' compass system, cues are likely not weighed by reliability, but rather by contrast. The neural model presented in *Paper IV* combines aspects of the head direction circuitry of the fruit fly and the locust (Pisokas et al., 2020), and is demonstrated to support cue integration as a weighted vector summation – which is the integration strategy employed by the dung beetle. Using this neural model, computational simulations were run to replicate my behavioural experiments detailed above. In the simulations, the two weighting strategies ('weight-byreliability' and 'weight-by-contrast') were tested. As it turns out, the weighting strategy that best reflects my behavioural results is the latter, thus providing further evidence that dung beetles weigh cues by contrast. For additional details regarding the modelling, see Paper IV.



### 5 The end point of my thesis

Just like *Kheper lamarcki's* straight-line journey eventually comes to an end, we now find ourselves at the end of this thesis. I can conclude that the dung beetle antennae, much like many other insects, carry the primary sensors that support windguided straight-line orientation, and have results suggesting that the directional wind information perceived by each antenna is summed (*Paper I*). I also find that K. *lamarcki*'s antennal Johnston's organ shares its detailed morphology with several other wind-orientating insects, indicating that it is this stretch sensitive organ that underlies wind sensing for straight-line orientation in the dung beetles as well (Paper II). In addition, me and my colleagues found that that in a scenario with multiple directional cues, dung beetles combine these sources of directional information according to a weighted vector summation integration strategy (*Paper* III), wherein the relative influence of each cue on the combined directional signal is given by its relative weight. In *Paper IV* we further propose that the parameter that determines the weight given to each directional cue is likely its contrast. In summary, this thesis provides the field of navigation with additional insights into the structure and function of the highly dynamic and adaptable insect compass system. It never failed to impress me!

My work also highlights multiple avenues for future studies of wind-guided orientation. An obvious continuation from this end point of my thesis is to conduct electrophysiological recordings from the neural circuitry underlying wind-encoding in the dung beetle. Furthermore, my work demonstrates the high accuracy with which the dung beetle can utilise wind currents to orientate itself. Considering that these insects orientate with their wind sensors close to the ground, where boundary layer winds are low and might fluctuate due to textures on the savannah, this is a remarkable feat. Moreover, the beetles do so while transporting a large dung ball that further influences the local wind flow. Therefore, in future investigations of the wind-guided straight-line orientation of dung beetles, it is also pertinent to perform velocimetry to visualise the nature of wind flow around the insect, its ball, and its tiny, tiny wind sensors.

### Acknowledgements

There is an enormous amount of people that have helped me throughout this crazy ride. To mention everyone would add a few more chapters to this book, and I quite literally do not have the time. That said, there are a few people who I cannot go without thanking (strap in, this is going to get sappy):

Marie, where do I even begin to thank you? You're seriously one of the most badass women I've ever met. You welcomed me into your lab as a bachelor's student, then a master's student, and then as a PhD student; staying under your supervision was never a difficult choice to make, and the entire experience has been an unforgettable, amazing adventure. Thank you for always believing in me, and for pushing me to believe in myself. Thank you for your patience, and for the countless lessons you've shared (I'll forever carry the "parking-ticket" mindset with me). Thank you for never saying "stop being anxious", but rather guiding me to clarity when I couldn't find it on my own. I'll forever be in awe of whatever sorcery you wield - it's wild how many times I've come to you as a total mess and left wondering why I was so stressed out in the first place. You have been there as an incredible role model in both science and in life, and I am beyond grateful. Thank you for taking me to the magical place that is South Africa. And omg thank you for playing Olympic-grade ping-pong with me as I raced against time towards the end. Over the years, your unwavering encouragement and warmth have been profoundly meaningful to me. I have grown an inordinate amount under your guidance and done things I never thought I was capable of. Thank you so much for everything.

I owe a big thank you to my co-supervisors for providing expertise and guidance. *Eric*, your kindness, sense of humour, and passion for both research and teaching are only a handful of reasons why you are awesome. It's been so fun to be office-neighbours with you – from being able to pop over with any question and get the most pedagogical answer, to hearing your classical music pour into my office. I am so grateful to have had you as a co-supervisor. *Basil*, every time you visited, I knew it was going to be a fun time. I have so much respect and admiration for you and your work. Thank you for helping me with all things neuroanatomy, I could not have done it without you. *Christoffer*, thank you for all of your wisdom on wind and fluid dynamics, it's been a great help in shaping my work!

*The Vision group* is a brilliant constellation of people, and it feels surreal to think that my time here is coming to an end. I won't name everyone I've met throughout these years, but if you are – or have ever been – a part of this group, then I am grateful for you. Working alongside such incredible scientists has been a privilege and a joy. I have made lifelong friends here, and have learnt so, so much. Thank you all for being amazing, for being hysterical (it's been years, but I can still feel the pain of that time we played bubble-football), and for knowing exactly how a meeting-fika should be done!

The dung beetle group has been my science-home for so long and I have had the most entertaining, inspiring, crazy times with the people here. Lana, I used to be scared of you, and then I got to know you (sorry not sorry, South Africa ft Zac Efron showed your true colours). You have been a constant role model, and I have such deeply rooted respect for you. Thank you for all your advice and help whenever I was freaking out, and for never shying away from telling me exactly what you think. And a *massive* thank you for saving the cover of my thesis from disaster, I'm obsessed. Robert, it turns out there's a whole dialect of UK humour I hadn't encountered until I met you (or maybe that's just Scottish, who knows). Thank you for listening to me rant about my experiments, for the million discussions about terminology, and for helping me kick the habit of saving "wot". Thank you for not only being a great colleague, but a great friend too. I look forward to the next ceilidh! Claudia, thank you for always being so kind, for teaching the molecular biologist in me about entomology, and for not losing your cool during the 24h trapping we did at Pullen (I don't know how you managed, I would've velled). Linnéa, you are such a fun and creative person. It was a delight being your MSc co-supervisor, but my proudest moment was getting to introduce you to Twilight. I'm excited to see your own PhD thesis come to life (...the beetles are shaking in their boots). Bastien, thank you for being such a great source of positivity and fun vibes, you've made me laugh more times than I can count. Lena, thank you for your help with experiments and formatting this thesis. You played a huge role in saving the last shred of my sanity and I'm very grateful for that. Evri, I've only known you for a little while, but you've already been so kind and awesome. Thank you for always being up for really interesting discussions! Vishaal, thank you for spending hours answering my questions about autotracking. Some honorary mentions: Andre, I'm still salty you're missing my defence, but I suppose field work is more important. Thank you for always being so genuinely kind, for all the thought-provoking discussions, and for not eating all the office snacks. Ayse, since day one you have always been supportive and encouraging, and I'm very grateful for that. Marcus, thank you for making fieldwork that much more enjoyable, and for teaching me things about animals I did not even know existed.

**Biologishowen**, this colourful spectacle means the world to me. I never would have imagined that I'd stand in front of a whole audience of kids, performing a show. It's been one of the biggest highlights of this PhD journey, and so a huge thank you to the team who has been part of it: *Elin, Valentin, Julian, Jacob, Lina, Sofie, Auguste, Saroja, Janka, Griffin, Linnea, Jana*. And of course, the amazing *Therese,* you are one of the sweetest, most warm and encouraging human beings ever and it's been such a joy to know you.

None of my work would've been possible without *Carina, Ola, Eva, Lars, Nils, Johan,* and *Arne.* You guys are fan-freaking-tastic, and no one would be doing anything without you. *Carina, Ola* and *Eva*, thank you for your enthusiasm and constant support during my antennae-journey, even when I had no clue what I was

doing. Especially you Carina, for spending hours in the dark TEM room with me. And Ola for the beautiful micro-CT image that went on the cover! *Lars*, *Nils*, *Johan*, and *Arne*, no project seems too big for you, and I'm very grateful for all your help with building the setup that made my behavioural work possible!

*Elin*, if anyone has been there for every. single. step. of this journey, it's you. We've talked lots about "soul-bonds," and *this* is what that's supposed to feel like. Thank you for always listening to my word salad and understanding what I'm trying to say even when I don't know myself. Thank you for being a safe space, and for always being so selfless with your support. Thank you for never failing to make me laugh. I still giggle when thinking about you crawling across the icy ground, dragging a trolley full of stinky dung, and also going "omg the vegetation is different!" when we got off the plane in South Africa...and even the time we (...I) almost got heatstroke when hiking along the coast. I have too many glorious memories with you to list, but it goes to show how much fun I've had with you. Your happy energy is so contagious, and you are such a remarkable, inspiring human. Thank you for never making me feel bad for putting mental health first, and for calling me out when I'd say something whack. I've treasured every trip we've taken together, every dinner, every coffee break – and here's to many more. I genuinely cannot express to you how much you and our friendship mean to me. You've made this wild journey infinitely better, and I'm profoundly grateful for you.

Of course, I have to thank the rest of *Thunder Down Under* – a band of truly fantastic people who have kept me sane. Valentin, the best office mate ever. You are seriously the funniest human I know. You are also one of the nicest and most understanding (thanks for not velling too loud whenever I claimed a word was Swedish or Persian when it was actually French). Thank you for your tough-love and challenging questions that pushed me to see logic when it seemed like it was impossible. You've been the voice of reason so many times. Thank you for always listening to me vent about everything and nothing, and for making me laugh, without fail, even when I was struggling the most. I value our friendship immensely. Now go get a PS5 so we can play Sea of Thieves together! *Ricky*, you are just so goddamn cool and talented and kind, and I feel so fortunate that I get to call you my friend. You have so much energy and you're always up for anything. I really admire that. Thank you for knowing exactly when I needed silliness and when I needed grounding. And thank you for not forcing me to go climbing (I will one day...maybe...). Natalie, I have had so, so much fun with you. From drag-shows, clubbing and concerts, to chilling with fika and conversation. You are such a badass, fearless person and I genuinely aspire to be more like you. Yakir, thank you for your massive help with all things data analysis, for being so patient while I was trying to understand stuff, and for always being super real and honest. Hopping from deep discussions to the most outrageous topic will always be my favourite thing. You are truly awesome. *Atticus*, I will never not be in total awe of your boundless creativity, warmth and calming presence. Thank you for introducing me to the magic of D&D

(and for being patient when I still forget rules). Thank you for being a brilliant role model in and out of science.

Saroja, there aren't any words that could capture how rare of a gem you are. You have always been a source of pure joy, selflessness and patience and I am beyond fortunate to know you. Whether it's your infectious laughter, your hysterical jokes and shenanigans, or your thoughtful advice, every moment spent with you is a gift. Thank you for always being amazing. Thank you for making the Australia-trip so much more magical. I adore you to bits. Auguste, if sunshine was a human it would be you. You went from being "the mysterious master's student who took forever to show up" to a really dear friend and I am so grateful for you. Your constant positive outlook on things has always amazed me. Thank you for being a total lifesaver and doing the Biology Show with me, I still cannot believe we made that work. And thank you for being so darn funny. Whenever I hear "that's me in the corner" I still lose it. *Nina*, you are just a bundle of positivity and good energy. I loved geeking out over fictional universes and analysing characters with you. Thank you for being an absolute delight. *Chloe*, when we met a million years ago I never anticipated that you'd become one of my dearest friends. Even though life has put us in different countries, you have continuously been a steadfast presence, and I am deeply appreciative of you. Thank you for your immense amount of understanding and for dealing with my bs the past ??? years. You and your adventurous spirit have always inspired me, and you have taught me so much. You're amazing. You've been so patient with me throughout my PhD journey, and I'm incredibly grateful for all the support you've given. Anna A., your friendship has always meant so much to me. Thank you for being so warm and encouraging. I'm incredibly grateful for you.

*Anna Katherine*, I owe you one of my biggest thank yous. Not only for sculpting the most beautiful and fulfilling creative space with me, but for your unwavering friendship and belief in me throughout all of this. Thank you for listening to me go on and on about being overwhelmed, and for your grace and kindness in the wake of it. You have always been such a safe refuge. Thank you for being a total menace and making me cackle until I cry. You are an extraordinary person, and your talent with the written word constantly blows my mind. Thank you for all the stories, and for the nights sailing the high seas, racing to a reboot van, and dodging ultimates. I love it here.

To my family – *Shayan* and *baba* for being so supportive and patient throughout the years. To my village of aunties, uncles and cousins who have cheered me on and shown immeasurable understanding while I've been on this insane adventure. *Merci.* 

And finally, thank you to my *mama* for being my greatest supporter in everything I ever set out to do. You were, and still are, the most reliable compass I ever could have asked for.

#### References

- Ai, H., Nishino, H., Itoh, T., 2006. Topographic organization of sensory afferents of Johnston's organ in the honeybee brain. J Comp Neurol 502, 1030–1046.
- Baird, E., Byrne, M., Scholtz, C., Warrant, E., Dacke, M., 2010. Bearing selection in ball-rolling dung beetles: Is it constant? J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol 196, 801–806.
- Beetz, M.J., el Jundi, B., 2018. Insect Orientation: Stay on Course with the Sun. Current Biology 28, R933–R936.
- Bell, W.J., Kramer, E., 1979. Search and anemotactic orientation of cockroaches. J Insect Physiol 25, 631–640.
- Birukow, G., 1958. Zur Funktion der Antennen beim Mistkäfer (Geotrupes silvaticus Panz.). Z Tierpsychol 15, 265–276.
- Bitsuamlak, G., Stathopoulos, T., Asce, F., Bédard, C., 2004. Numerical Evaluation of Wind Flow over Complex Terrain: Review. J Aerosp Eng 17.
- Bode, W., 1986. Fine structure of the scolopophorous organs in the pedicel of three species of Thysanoptera (Insecta). Int J Insect Morphol Embryol 15, 139–154.
- Böhm, H., 1995. Dynamic properties of orientation to turbulent air current by walking carrion beetles. Journal of Experimental Biology 198, 1995–2005.
- Boo, K., Richards, A.G., 1975a. Fine structure of the scolopidia in the johnston's organ of male Aedes aegypti (L.) (Diptera: Culicidae). Int J Insect Morphol Embryol 4, 549–566. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0020-7322(75)90031-8
- Boo, K., Richards, A.G., 1975b. Fine structure of scolopidia in Johnston's organ of female Aedes aegypti compared with that of the male. J Insect Physiol 21, 1129–1139.
- Borror, D.J., Delong, D.M., Triplehorn, C., Johnson, N.F., 2005. An Introduction of the Study of Insects. Brooks/Cole Publishing Co.
- Brady, D., Saviane, A., Cappellozza, S., Sandrelli, F., 2021. The Circadian Clock in Lepidoptera. Front Physiol 12, 776826.
- Budick, S., Reiser, M., Dickinson, M., 2008. The role of visual and mechanosensory cues in structuring forward flight in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J Exp Biol 210, 4092–4103.
- Buehlmann, C., Aussel, A., Graham, P., 2020a. Dynamic multimodal interactions in navigating wood ants: What do path details tell us about cue integration? J Exp Biol 223, jeb.221036.
- Buehlmann, C., Mangan, M., Graham, P., 2020b. Multimodal interactions in insect navigation. Anim Cogn 23.
- Byrne, M., Dacke, M., Nordström, P., Scholtz, C., Warrant, E., 2003. Visual cues used by ball-rolling dung beetles for orientation. J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol 189, 411–418.

- Camhi, J., Tom, W., 1978. The escape behavior of the cockroach Periplaneta americana - I. Turning response to wind puffs. J. Comp. Physiol. 128, 193– 201.
- Cardé, R., Willis, M., 2008. Navigational Strategies Used by Insects to Find Distant, Wind-Borne Sources of Odor. J Chem Ecol 34, 854–866.
- Chatterjee, P., Prusty, A., Mohan, U., Sane, S., 2022. Integration of visual and antennal mechanosensory feedback during head stabilization in hawkmoths. Elife 11.
- Chen, X., McNamara, T., Kelly, J., Wolbers, T., 2017. Cue combination in human spatial navigation. Cogn Psychol 95, 105–144.
- Cheung, A., Zhang, S., Stricker, C., Srinivasan, M., 2007. Animal navigation: The difficulty of moving in a straight line. Biol Cybern 97, 47–61.
- Chow, D., Frye, M., 2008. Context-dependent olfactory enhancement of optomotor flight control in Drosophila. J Exp Biol 211, 2478–2485.
- Collett, M., 2012. How Navigational Guidance Systems Are Combined in a Desert Ant. Curr Biol 22, 927–932.
- Collett, M., Cardé, R.T., 2014. Navigation: Many Senses Make Efficient Foraging Paths. Current Biology 24, R362–R364.
- Currier, T., Matheson, A., Nagel, K., 2020. Encoding and control of orientation to airflow by a set of Drosophila fan-shaped body neurons. Elife 9.
- Dacke, M., Baird, E., Byrne, M., Scholtz, C., Warrant, E., 2013. Dung Beetles Use the Milky Way for Orientation. Current Biology 23, 298–300.
- Dacke, M., Baird, E., el Jundi, B., Warrant, E., Byrne, M., 2021. How Dung Beetles Steer Straight. Annu Rev Entomol 66. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-042020-102149
- Dacke, M., Bell, A., Foster, J., Baird, E., Strube-Bloss, M., Byrne, M., el Jundi, B., 2019. Multimodal cue integration in the dung beetle compass. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116, 14248–14253.
- Dacke, M., Byrne, M., Baird, E., Scholtz, C., Warrant, E., 2011. How dim is dim? Precision of the celestial compass in moonlight and sunlight. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 366, 697–702.
- Dacke, M., Byrne, M., Smolka, J., Warrant, E., Baird, E., 2012. Dung beetles ignore landmarks for straight-line orientation. J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol 199.
- Dacke, M., el Jundi, B., 2018. The Dung Beetle Compass. Current Biology 28, R993–R997. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.04.052
- Dacke, M., el Jundi, B., Smolka, J., Byrne, M., Baird, E., 2014. The role of the sun in the celestial compass of dung beetles. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369, 20130036.
- Dahake, A., Stöckl, A., Foster, J., Sane, S., Kelber, A., 2018. The roles of vision and antennal mechanoreception in hawkmoth flight control. Elife.
- Daltorio, K., Fox, J., 2018. Haltere removal alters responses to gravity in standing flies. J Exp Biol 221, jeb.181719. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.181719

- Dethier, V.G., Larsen, J.R., Adam, J.R., 1963. The fine structure of the olfactory receptors of the blowfly, in: Olfaction and Taste. Pergamon, pp. 105–110.
- Di Giulio, A., Maurizi, E., Rossi Stacconi, V., Romani, R., 2012. Functional structure of antennal sensilla in the myrmecophilous beetle Paussus favieri (Coleoptera, Carabidae, Paussini). Micron 43, 705–719.
- Diakova, A., Makarova, A., Pang, S., Xu, C., Hess, H., Polilov, A., 2022. The 3D ultrastructure of the chordotonal organs in the antenna of a microwasp remains complex although simplified. Sci Rep 12, 20172.
- Dieudonne, A., Daniel, T., Sane, S., 2014. Encoding properties of the mechanosensory neurons in the Johnston's organ of the hawk moth, Manduca sexta. J Exp Biol 217.
- Donley, G., Sun, Y., Pass, G., Adler, P., Beard, C., Owens, J., Kornev, K., 2022. Insect antennae: Coupling blood pressure with cuticle deformation to control movement. Acta Biomater 147, 102–119.
- Dreyer, D., Frost, B., Mouritsen, H., Günther, A., Green, K., Whitehouse, M., Johnson, S., Heinze, S., Warrant, E., 2018. The Earth's Magnetic Field and Visual Landmarks Steer Migratory Flight Behavior in the Nocturnal Australian Bogong Moth. Current Biology 28.
- el Jundi, B., Baird, E., Byrne, M., Dacke, M., 2019. The brain behind straight-line orientation in dung beetles. J Exp Biol 222, jeb192450. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.192450
- el Jundi, B., Smolka, J., Baird, E., Byrne, M., Dacke, M., 2014. Diurnal dung beetles use the intensity gradient and the polarization pattern of the sky for orientation. J Exp Biol 217, 2422–2429.
- el Jundi, B., Warrant, E., Byrne, M., Khaldy, L., Baird, E., Smolka, J., Dacke, M., 2015. Neural coding underlying the cue preference for celestial orientation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- el Jundi, B., Warrant, E., Pfeiffer, K., Dacke, M., 2018. Neuroarchitecture of the dung beetle central complex. Journal of Comparative Neurology 526.
- Ernst, M., Banks, M., 2002. Humans integrate visual and haptic information in a statistically optimal fashion. Nature 415, 429–433.
- Ernst, M., Bülthoff, H., 2004. Merging the Senses into a Robust Percept. Trends Cogn Sci 8, 162–169.
- Fetsch, C., Pouget, A., Deangelis, G., Angelaki, D., 2011. Neural correlates of reliability-based cue weighting during multisensory integration. Nat Neurosci 15, 146–154.
- Field, L., Matheson, T., 1998. Chordotonal Organs of Insects. Adv In Insect Phys 27, 1–56.
- Forward, R., Bourla, M., Lessios, N., Cohen, J., 2009. Orientation to shorelines by the supratidal amphipod Talorchestia longicornis: Wavelength specific behavior during sun compass orientation. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 376, 102–109.
- Franzke, M., Kraus, C., Dreyer, D., Pfeiffer, K., Beetz, M.J., Stöckl, A., Foster, J., Warrant, E., el Jundi, B., 2020. Spatial orientation based on multiple visual cues in non-migratory monarch butterflies. J Exp Biol 223, jeb.223800.
- Freas, C., Spetch, M., 2022. Varieties of visual navigation in insects. Anim Cogn 26, 319–342.
- Frisch, K., 1922. Über den Sitz des Geruchsinnes bei Insekten. Naturwissenschaften 10, 454–455.
- Frye, M., 2009. Invertebrate solutions for sensing gravity. Curr Biol 19, R186-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.12.024
- Geiger, R., Aron, R., Todhunter, P., 1995. The Climate Near the Ground. Vieweg, Wiesbaden 97–107.
- Gewecke, M., 1974. The Antennae of Insects as Air-Current Sense Organs and their Relationship to the Control of Flight. Springer-Verlag Berlin, pp. 100–113.
- Gewecke, M., 1970. Antennae: Another Wind-sensitive Receptor in Locusts. Nature 225, 1263–1264.
- Giraldo, Y., Leitch, K., Ros, I., Warren, T., Weir, P., Dickinson, M., 2018. Sun navigation requires compass neurons in Drosophila. Current Biology.
- Gnatzy, W., Heußlein, R., 1986. Digger wasp against crickets. Naturwissenschaften 73, 212–215.
- Goyret, J., Markwell, P., Raguso, R., 2007. The effect of decoupling olfactory and visual stimuli on the foraging behavior of Manduca sexta. J Exp Biol 210, 1398–1405.
- Green, J., Adachi, A., Shah, K., Hirokawa, J., Magani, P., Maimon, G., 2017. A neural circuit architecture for angular integration in Drosophila. Nature 546. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22343
- Grob, R., Basil, el J., and Fleischmann, P.N., 2021a. Towards a common terminology for arthropod spatial orientation. Ethol Ecol Evol 33, 338–358. https://doi.org/10.1080/03949370.2021.1905075
- Grob, R., Tritscher, C., Grübel, K., Stigloher, C., Groh, C., Fleischmann, P., Rössler, W., 2021b. Johnston's organ and its central projections in Cataglyphis desert ants. J Comp Neurol 529, 2138–2155.
- Gu, Y., Angelaki, D., Deangelis, G., 2008. Neural correlates of multisensory cue integration in macaque MSTd. Nat Neurosci 11, 1201–1210.
- Guerra, P., Merlin, C., Gegear, R., Reppert, S., 2012. Discordant timing between antennae disrupts sun compass orientation in migratory monarch butterflies. Nat Commun 3, 958.
- Guilford, T., Taylor, G., 2014. The sun compass revisited. Anim Behav 97, 135–143.
- Hallberg, E., 1981. Johnston's Organ in Neodiprion sertifer (Insecta: Hymenoptera). J Morphol 167, 305–312.
- Hanesch, U., Fischbach, K.-F., Heisenberg, M., 1989. Neuronal architecture of the central complex in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Cell Tissue Res 257, 343–366. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00261838

- Hanski, I., Cambefort, Y., 1991. Dung Beetle Ecology, in: Hanski, I., Cambefort, Y. (Eds.), . Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Hansson, B.S., Stensmyr, M.C., 2011. Evolution of Insect Olfaction. Neuron 72, 698–711.
- Heinze, S., 2024. Variations on an ancient theme the central complex across insects. Curr Opin Behav Sci 57, 101390. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2024.101390
- Heinze, S., Florman, J., Asokaraj, S., el Jundi, B., Reppert, S., 2013. Anatomical basis of sun compass navigation II: The neuronal composition of the central complex of the monarch butterfly. J Comp Neurol 521, Spc1.
- Heinze, S., Homberg, U., 2008. Neuroarchitecture of the Central Complex of the Desert Locust: Intrinsic and Columnar Neurons. J Comp Neurol 511, 454–478.
- Heinze, S., Reppert, S., 2011. Sun Compass Integration of Skylight Cues in Migratory Monarch Butterflies. Neuron 69, 345–358.
- Heinzel, H.-G., Böhm, H., 1989. The wind-orientation of walking carrion beetles. J Comp Physiol 164, 775–786.
- Heinzel, H.G., Böhm, H., 1984. Wind Orientation in Walking Carrion Beetles (Necrophorus humator F.) Under Closed and Open Loop Conditions.
- Heinzel, H.-G., Gewecke, M., 1987. Aerodynamic and mechanical properties of the antennae as air-current sense organs in Locusta migratoria - I. Static characteristics. Journal of Comparative Physiology A 139, 357–366.
- Hoinville, T., Wehner, R., 2018. Optimal multiguidance integration in insect navigation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115, 201721668.
- Honkanen, A., Adden, A., Freitas, J., Freitas, S., Heinze, S., 2019. The insect central complex and the neural basis of navigational strategies. Journal of Experimental Biology 222.
- Horn, E., Bischof, H.-J., 1983. Gravity reception in crickets: The influence of cereal and antennal afferences on the head position. J Comp Physiol 150, 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00605292
- Horn, E., Föller, W., 2001. Functional regeneration of a gravity sensory system during development in an insect (Gryllus bimaculatus). Neuroreport 12, 2685– 2691. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200108280-00019
- Howse, P., Claridge, M., 1970. The fine structure of Johnston's organ of the leafhopper, Oncopsis flavicollis. J Insect Physiol 16, 1665–1675.
- Hulse, B., Haberkern, H., Franconville, R., Turner-Evans, D., Takemura, S., Wolff, T., Noorman, M., Dreher, M., Dan, C., Parekh, R., Hermundstad, A., Rubin, G., Jayaraman, V., 2020. A connectome of the Drosophila central complex reveals network motifs suitable for flexible navigation and context-dependent action selection. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.08.413955
- Immonen, E.-V., Dacke, M., Heinze, S., el Jundi, B., 2017. Anatomical organization of the brain of a diurnal and a nocturnal dung beetle. J Comp Neurol 525. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.24169

- Jeffery, K., Page, H., Stringer, S., 2016. Optimal cue combination and landmarkstability learning in the head direction system. J Physiol 594.
- Jeram, S., Pabst, M.A., 1996. Johnston's organ and central organ in Nezara viridula (L.) (Heteroptera, Pentatomidae). Tissue Cell 28 2, 227–235.
- Johnston, C., 1855. Auditory apparatus of the Culex mosquito. J Cell Sci 3, 97–102.
- Kaissling, K.-E., Kramer, E., 1990. Sensory basis of pheromone-mediated orientation in moths. Verh. Dtsch. Zool. Ges. 83, 109–131.
- Kalmikov, A., 2017. Wind Power Fundamentals, in: Wind Energy Engineering: A Handbook for Onshore and Offshore Wind Turbines. Elsevier, pp. 17–24.
- Kalmus, H., 1942. Anemotaxis in Soft-skinned Animals. Nature 150, 524.
- Kamikouchi, A., Inagaki, H., Effertz, T., Hendrich, O., Fiala, A., Göpfert, M., Ito, K., 2009. The neural basis of Drosophila gravity-sensing and hearing. Nature 458, 165–171.
- Kamikouchi, A., Shimada, T., Ito, K., 2006. Comprehensive classification of the auditory sensory projections in the brain of the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*. J Comp Neurol 499, 317–356.
- Kavlie, R.G., Albert, J.T., 2013. Chordotonal Organs. Current Biology 23(9), R334– R335.
- Khaldy, L., Foster, J., Yilmaz, A., Belusic, G., Gagnon, Y., Tocco, C., Byrne, M., Dacke, M., 2022. The interplay of directional information provided by unpolarised and polarised light in the heading direction network of the diurnal dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki*. Journal of Experimental Biology 225.
- Khaldy, L., Peleg, O., Tocco, C., Mahadevan, L., Byrne, M., Dacke, M., 2019. The effect of step size on straight-line orientation. J R Soc Interface 16, 20190181.
- Khaldy, L., Tocco, C., Byrne, M., Dacke, M., 2021. Compass Cue Integration and Its Relation to the Visual Ecology of Three Tribes of Ball-Rolling Dung Beetles. Insects 12, 526.
- Knight, R., Piette, C., Page, H., Walters, D., Marozzi, E., Nardini, M., Stringer, S., Jeffery, K., 2014. Weighted cue integration in the rodent head direction system. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369, 20120512.
- Kramer, E., 1976. The orientation of walking honeybees in odour fields with small concentration gradients. Physiol Entomol 1, 27–37.
- Kreith, F., 1999. The CRC Handbook of Mechanical Engineering.
- Lebhardt, F., Ronacher, B., 2014. Interactions of the polarization and the sun compass in path integration of desert ants (vol 200, pg 711, 2013). J Comp Physiol 200, 721.
- Legge, E., Wystrach, A., Spetch, M., Cheng, K., 2014. Combining sky and Earth: Desert ants (Melophorus bagoti) show weighted integration of celestial and terrestrial cues. J Exp Biol 217.
- Linsenmair, K.E., 1972. Anemomenotactic Orientation in Beetles and Scorpions. NASA Special Publication.

- Loudon, C., 2003. 21 The biomechanical design of an insect antenna as an odor capture device, in: Blomquist, G., Vogt, R. (Eds.), Insect Pheromone Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 609– 630.
- Maceachern, C.R., Yildiz, I., 2018. 1.16 Wind Energy.
- Massy, R., Hawkes, W., Doyle, T., Troscianko, J., Menz, M., Roberts, N., Chapman, J., Wotton, K., 2021. Hoverflies use a time-compensated sun compass to orientate during autumn migration. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 288, 20211805.
- Mathew, S., 2007. Wind energy: Fundamentals, resource analysis and economics, Wind Energy: Fundamentals, Resource Analysis and Economics.
- Matsuo, E., Kamikouchi, A., 2013. Neuronal encoding of sound, gravity, and wind in the fruit fly. Journal of comparative physiology. A 199, 253–262.
- Merlin, C., Gegear, R., Reppert, S., 2009. Antennal Circadian Clocks Coordinate Sun Compass Orientation in Migratory Monarch Butterflies. Science (1979) 325, 1700–1704.
- Moulins, M., 1976. Ultrastructure of chordotonal organs, in: Mill, P.J. (Ed.), Structure and Function of Proprioceptors in the Invertebrates. London: Chapman and Hall, pp. 387–426.
- Mouritsen, H., Frost, B., 2002. Virtual migration in tethered flying monarch butterflies reveals their orientation mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 10162–10166.
- Müller, M., Wehner, R., 2007. Wind and Sky as Compass Cues in Desert Ant Navigation. Naturwissenschaften 94, 589–594.
- Murray, R., Morgenstern, Y., 2010. Cue combination on the circle and the sphere. J Vis 10, 15.
- Mussells Pires, P., Zhang, L., Parache, V., Abbott, L., Maimon, G., 2024. Converting an allocentric goal into an egocentric steering signal. Nature 626, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-07006-3
- Nardini, M., Jones, P., Bedford, R., Braddick, O., 2008. Development of Cue Integration in Human Navigation. Curr Biol 18, 689–693.
- Okubo, T.S., Patella, P., D'Alessandro, I., Wilson, R.I., 2020. A Neural Network for Wind-Guided Compass Navigation. Neuron 107, 924-940.e18.
- Pfeiffer, K., Homberg, U., 2014. Organization and Functional Roles of the Central Complex in the Insect Brain. Annu Rev Entomol 59.
- Pisokas, I., Heinze, S., Webb, B., 2020. The head direction circuit of two insect species. Elife 9.
- Prandtl, L., 1904. Motion of Fluids with Very Little Viscosity. Technical Memorandums of the National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics.
- Purcell, E., 1977. Life at Low Reynolds Number. Am J Phys 45, 3–11.
- Reppert, S., Gegear, R., Merlin, C., 2010. Navigational Mechanisms of Migrating Monarch Butterflies. Trends Neurosci 33, 399–406.

- Reynolds, O., 1883. An Experimental Investigation of the Circumstances Which Determine Whether the Motion of Water Shall Be Direct or Sinuous, and of the Law of Resistance in Parallel Channels. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. 935.
- Sane, S., Dieudonné, A., Willis, M., Daniel, T., 2007. Antennal Mechanosensors Mediate Flight Control in Moths. Science (1979) 315, 863–866.
- Schlief, M., Wilson, R., 2007. Olfactory processing and behavior downstream from highly selective receptor neurons. Nat Neurosci 10, 623–630.
- Schmidt, K., 1974. Die Mechanorezeptoren im Pedicellus der Eintagsfliegen (Insecta, Ephemeroptera). Zoomorphology 78, 193–220.
- Schmidt-Koenig, K., Ganzhorn, J., Ranvaud, R., 1991. The Sun Compass, in: Experientia Supplementum. pp. 1–15.
- Schneider, D., 1964. Insect Antennae. Annu Rev Entomol 9, 103–122.
- Seelig, J., Jayaraman, V., 2015. Neural dynamics for landmark orientation and angular path integration. Nature 521, 186–191.
- Seelig, J., Jayaraman, V., 2013. Feature Detection and Orientation Tuning in the Drosophila Central Brain. Nature 106. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12601
- Smits, A., McKeon, B., Marusic, I., 2011. High–Reynolds Number Wall Turbulence. Annu Rev Fluid Mech 43, 353–375.
- Souman, J., Frissen, I., Sreenivasa, M.N., Ernst, M., 2009. Walking Straight into Circles. Curr Biol 19, 1538–1542.
- Stacconi, M.V.R., Romani, R., 2013. The Johnston's organ of three homopteran species: a comparative ultrastructural study. Arthropod Struct Dev 42, 219– 228.
- Stone, T., Webb, B., Adden, A., Weddig, N., Honkanen, A., Templin, R., Wcislo, W., Scimeca, L., Warrant, E., Heinze, S., 2017. An Anatomically Constrained Model for Path Integration in the Bee Brain. Current Biology 27.
- Suver, M.P., Matheson, A.M.M., Sarkar, S., Damiata, M., Schoppik, D., Nagel, K.I., 2019. Encoding of Wind Direction by Central Neurons in Drosophila. Neuron 102, 828-842.e7.
- Suzuki, H., 1975. Convergence of olfactory inputs from both antennae in brain of honeybee. J Exp Biol 62, 11–26.
- Tautz, J., 1977. Reception of medium vibration by thoracal hairs of caterpillars of Barathra brassicae L. (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae) - I. Mechanical properties of the receptor hairs. J Comp Physiol 118, 13–31.
- Tichy, H., 1979. Hygro-and thermoreceptive triad in antennal sensillum of the stick insect, Carausius morosus. J Comp Physiol 132, 149–152.
- Tocco, C., Dacke, M., Byrne, M., 2021. The finely defined shift work schedule of dung beetles and their eye morphology. Ecol Evol 11.
- Todi, S., Sharma, Y., Eberl, D., 2004. Anatomical and Molecular Design of the Drosophila Antenna as a Flagellar Auditory Organ. Microsc Res Tech 63, 388– 399.

- Turner-Evans, D., Wegener, S., Rouault, H., Franconville, R., Wolff, T., Seelig, J.D., Druckmann, S., Jayaraman, V., 2017. Angular velocity integration in a fly heading circuit. Elife 6, e23496. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.23496
- Uga, S., Kuwabara, M., 1965. On the Fine Structure of the Chordotonal Sensillum in Antenna of *Drosophila melanogaster*. J Electron Microsc (Tokyo) 14, 173–181.
- van Breugel, F., Jewell, R., Houle, J., 2022. Active anemosensing hypothesis: how flying insects could estimate ambient wind direction through sensory integration and active movement. J R Soc Interface 19, 20220258.
- Vande Berg, J., 1971. Fine structural studies of Johnston's organ in the tobacco hornworm moth, Manduca sexta (Johannson). J Morphol 133, 439–455.
- Vogel, S., 1994. Life in Moving Fluids: The Physical Biology of Flow Revised and Expanded Second Edition. Princeton University Press.
- von Frisch, K., Lindauer, M., 1956. The "Language" and Orientation of the Honey Bee. Annu Rev Entomol 1, 45–58.
- Wehner, R., 2020. Desert Navigator: The Journey of the Ant, Desert Navigator. Harvard University press.
- Wehner, R., Duelli, P., 1971. The spatial orientation of desert ants, Cataglyphis bicolor, before sunrise and after sunset. Cell Mol Life Sci 27, 1364–1366.
- Wehner, R., Hoinville, T., Cruse, H., Cheng, K., 2016. Steering intermediate courses: desert ants combine information from various navigational routines. Journal of Comparative Physiology A 202, 459–472.
- Wehner, R., Müller, M., 2006. The Significance of Direct Sunlight and Polarized Skylight in the Ant's Celestial System of Navigation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 12575–12579. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0604430103
- Westeinde, E.A., Kellogg, E., Dawson, P.M., Lu, J., Hamburg, L., Midler, B., Druckmann, S., Wilson, R.I., 2024. Transforming a head direction signal into a goal-oriented steering command. Nature 626, 819–826. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-024-07039-2
- Willis, M., Avondet, J., Finnell, A., 2008. Effects of altering flow and odor information on plume tracking behavior in walking cockroaches, Periplaneta americana (L.). J Exp Biol 211, 2317–2326.
- Willis, M., Avondet, J., Zheng, E., 2011. The role of vision in odor-plume tracking by walking and flying insects. J Exp Biol 214, 4121–4132.
- Wolff, T., Rubin, G., 2018. Neuroarchitecture of the Drosophila central complex: A catalog of nodulus and asymmetrical body neurons and a revision of the protocerebral bridge catalog. Journal of Comparative Neurology 526. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.24512
- Wystrach, A., Mangan, M., Webb, B., 2015. Optimal cue integration in ants. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282.

- Wystrach, A., Schwarz, S., Schultheiss, P., Baniel, A., Cheng, K., 2014. Multiple sources of celestial compass information in the Central Australian desert ant Melophorus bagoti. J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol 200, 591–601.
- Yack, J., 2004. The Structure and Function of Auditory Chordotonal Organs in Insects. Microsc Res Tech 63, 315–337.
- Yokohari, F., Tominaga, Y., Tateda, H., 1982. Antennal hygroreceptors of the honey bee, Apis mellifera L. Cell Tissue Res 226, 63–73.
- Yorozu, S., Wong, A., Fischer, B., Dankert, H., Kernan, M., Kamikouchi, A., Ito, K., Anderson, D., 2009. Distinct sensory representations of wind and near-field sound in the Drosophila brain. Nature 458, 201–205.

## List of papers

Shaverdian, S., and Dacke, M., One antenna can support wind-guided straight-line orientation in the dung beetle *Kheper lamarcki*. (*Manuscript*)

Shaverdian, S., Rasmussen, C., and Dacke, M., Ultrastructure of the dung beetle Johnston's organ. (*Manuscript in revision*).

Shaverdian, S., Dirlik, E., Mitchell, R., Tocco, C., Webb, B., Dacke, M. (2022). Weighted cue integration for straight-line orientation. iScience 25, 105207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.105207

Mitchell, R., Shaverdian, S., Dacke, M., Webb, B. (2023). A model of cue integration as vector summation in the insect brain. Proc. R. Soc. B. 290, 20230767. http://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2023.0767



Faculty of Science Department of Biology